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Characteristics of GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to
accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which
a higher investment risk may be attached than other
companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective
investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing
in such companies and should make the decision to invest
only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small
and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that securities
traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market
volatility than securities traded on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange and no assurance is given that there will
be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock
Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this report,
make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness
and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss
howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any
part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of Yu Tak
International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) collectively and
individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given
in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on the GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”)
for the purpose of giving information with regard to the
Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries,
confirm that to the best of their knowledge and belief the
information contained in this report is accurate and complete in
all material respects and not misleading or deceptive, and there
are no other matters the omission of which would make any
statement herein or this report misleading.
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
NEER

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. LI Xia
Mr. CHONG Yu Ping
Mr. CHEN Yin

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Mr. LAM Tin Faat
Ms. NA Xin
Ms. ZHAO Xiaxia

COMPLIANCE OFFICER
Mr. CHAN Hoi Keung Terence

COMPANY SECRETARY
Mr. CHAN Hoi Keung Terence

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Ms. LI Xia
Mr. CHAN Hoi Keung Terence

BERMUDA RESIDENT
REPRESENTATIVES

Codan Services Limited

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. LAM Tin Faat (Chairman)
Ms. NA Xin
Ms. ZHAQO Xiaxia

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Mr. LAM Tin Faat (Chairman)
Ms. LI Xia
Ms. NA Xin

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Mr. LAM Tin Faat (Chairman)
Ms. LI Xia
Ms. NA Xin
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
NAEER

AUDITOR

Grant Thornton Hong Kong Limited
Certified Public Accountants

11/F Lee Garden Two 28 Yun Ping Road,
Causeway Bay,

Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKERS
The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

MUFG Fund Services (Bermuda) Limited
4th Floor, North Cedar House,

41 Cedar Avenue Hamilton HM12
Bermuda

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE
REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER OFFICE

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Rooms 1712 — 1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre
183 Queen’s Road East

Hong Kong

REGISTERED OFFICE

Clarendon House
2 Church Street
Hamilton HM11
Bermuda

HEAD OFFICE AND PRINCIPAL PLACE

OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

35/F Infinitius Plaza
199, Des Voeux Road Central,
Sheung Wan, Hong Kong

WEBSITE ADDRESS

www.hkjewelry.net
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

P HE

for the year ended 31 December 2022
BE—FE == H=+1—FHIFE

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
ZZ-N\F ZZ-NF ZTTF ZT-—F ZBZ_F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000
FET FET FrET FET FEx
RESULTS ES

Revenue 1 gN 97,225 98,492 49,211 41,361 28,785
Loss before income tax MRS AIERE (23,210) (14,635) (9,243) (8,820) (7,124)
Income tax expense FTiS R (41) (79) (81) (88) (171)
Loss for the year FREE (23,251) (14,714) (9,324) (8,908) (7,295)

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEHAE
Total assets BERE 150,833 141,204 140,879 130,484 122,979
Total liabilities BEEE (42,255) (24,288) (25,395) (21,965) (20,902)
Total equity friELazs 108,578 116,916 115,484 108,519 102,077
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ERE®E

Dear Shareholders:

On behalf of the Board of Directors (the “Board”) of Yu Tak
International Holdings Limited (the “Company”), it is my
pleasure to present the Annual Report of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) for the
year ended 31 December 2022.

Following a 8.1% growth in 2021, the economic growth of
Mainland China slowed down to 3.0% mainly due to the
continued disruptions of Covid-19. From 2023, the epidemic had
been to formally put to an end and it would unlikely be irritating
recovery again. Nevertheless, retail sales might need some
more time to dust off the impacts from the persisting financial
problems in property development and affected sectors.

The Group's Sales of Gold and Jewellery products business in
2022 fell by 52%. After a year of aggressive rate hikes that the
precious metal markets were troubled, international gold price
will be expected to return to its ascending trend and sales of
the Group for 2023 would be favoured. Compared with the
Jewellery Products segment, the IT products and Services
segment was less susceptible to negative impacts of the
epidemic and these financial uncertainties.

The Group will adopt a prudent but optimistic view on the
business environment of 2023. Any expansion plans and
investment decisions will be accessed with dual care.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of all Board members, | would like to take this
opportunity to express my gratitude to the Shareholders and
business partners of the Group for their continued supports and
trust during the past years, and my most sincere appreciation
to the Directors, management and staff at all levels for their
dedication, hard works and contributions to the Group.

LI Xia
Chairman

Hong Kong
21 April 2023
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEFNWR DM

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group’s loss
attributable to the owners of the Company amounted to
HK$6,915,000 (2021: HK$8,908,000).

The Group’s revenue for the year ended 31 December 2022
amounted to HK$28,785,000 (2021: HK$41,361,000).

The sales of gold and jewellery products decreased 52%
to HK$11,181,000 (2021: HK$23,5603,000). Revenue from
enterprise software products amounted to HK$13,388,000 (2021:
HK$13,340,000). Revenue from professional services dropped
by 39% to HK$2,775,000 (2021: HK$4,518,000). Revenue form
other operation amounted to HK$1,441,000 (2021: Nil).

OPERATION REVIEW

According to the National Bureau of Statistics, Mainland China’s
economy had grown by 3.0% over 2022, adjusted downward
from 3.9% of Q3 due to weaker performance in Q4. Besides,
retail sales of consumer goods fell by 0.2% in 2022 though
online sales were up by 6.2% representing 27.2% of the total
retail sales. Disposable income had generally grown at the
same pace as the economy.

Gold price finished 2022 at US$1,824/0z, that a mild gain of
1% over the year was recorded following a significant fall in Q3
as the US Federal Reserves became less hawkish on inflation
expectation. More stable gold prices should have favoured
jewellery demand in Q4 but it showed a 28% decline from
same quarter of 2021, the weakest quarter since 2003 due to
COVID-related disruptions.

Revenue from sales of gold and jewellery products of the
Group of 2022 fell from HK$23,503,000 of 2021 to HK$
11,181,000 due to weaker demand of luxury products. On the
other hand, income from IT Products and Services contracted
to HK$16,163,000 as a result of the Group's strategy to further
scale down professional services businesses which demanded
disproportionated investment in human resources.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEBNWR TN

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES
AND CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 31 December 2022, the Group remained in a strong
financial position with cash and bank balances of HK$23,438,000
(2021: HK$19,562,000).

As at 31 December 2022, the Group's issued shares were
1,947,690,000 shares (2021: 1,947,690,000 shares).

The Group monitored its capital structure using the gearing
ratio which is net debt divided by total equity. For this purpose,
the Group defined net debt as total debt, which comprises
long-term and short-term borrowings, less cash and cash
equivalents. Total equity comprised equity attributable to
owners of the Company and non-controlling interests stated in
the consolidated statement of financial position. The gearing
ratio is not presented, it was nearly zero (2021: zero).

TREASURY POLICY

The Directors will continue to follow a prudent policy in
managing the Group's cash and maintaining a strong and
healthy liquidity to ensure that the Group is well placed to take
advantage of future growth opportunities.

FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK

The Group does not have significant exposure on foreign
currency risk. The functional currencies of the Group's entities
are principally denominated in HK$ and RMB. The Group
has certain exposure to foreign currency risk as some of its
business transactions, assets and liabilities are denominated in
currencies other than the functional currencies of the respective
Group entities such as USD. The Group currently does not have
a foreign currency hedging policy in respect of foreign currency
transactions, assets and liabilities.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEBNWR DN

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT, MATERIAL
ACQUISITION OR DISPOSAL OF
SUBSIDIARIES

On 10 January 2021, the Group acquired an additional
19.9% equity interest in a subsidiary for HK$10,000. After
the acquisition, the subsidiary had become a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Group.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group had
invested RMB5 million in a newly established subsidiary which
engaged in design, production and sales of smart rehabilitation
products in Mainland China.

Except for the above, the Group did not have any significant
investment and material acquisition and disposal of subsidiaries
during the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: Nil).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND CAPITAL
COMMITMENT

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had capital commitments
amounting to HK$396,000 (2021: Nil).

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, the Group had
no significant subsequent event.

SEGMENTAL PERFORMANCE

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the revenue from the
Jewellery Products segment and the IT Products and Services
segment amounted to HK$11,181,000 (2021: HK$23,503,000)
and HK$16,1763,000 (2021: HK$17,858,000) and others
HK$1,441,000 (2021: Nil) respectively.

9 Yu Tak International Holdings Limited ANNUAL REPORT 2022

EARE - EARBRHEHRBELT

RZE-_—F—H+H » NEEB10,000%8 T
E—FEM B A RIAEEIN9.9% AT HE - RULEER -
ZHBRAREKABAEENEEHBAR °

BE_ZT-_—F+_-_A=+—HItFE  K&EHE
BR—EHKLHERRKEARKS00E T ¢
AR E AR ERT BB RIEES R
BEM °

fREXFAESN  AEERBE-_FT-__F+=

A=+—BLFEHSEBEEMNENRE AL EBETT
MERRNEARBREE(ZT——%F &) -

HARBBEREREE

RZEBE-__F+-A=+—H ' ZEBEHNE X
¥ A396,0008 L (ZF=-—F : £) o

ERHBEBER
RERBERE - AEELBEXREES -

2 EBRE

BE-_Z-_—_F+-_A=+—HILFE kB
KEEMDS BANMBEREKRBE I RE
oz WA DRI A11,181,0008 (=T = —4F :
23,503,000/ 7T) ~16,163,0008 7T (-~ —4:
17,858,000/ 7T ) 21,441,000/ (=& — —4F :
) o



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEBNWR TN

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION
POLICIES

As at 31 December 2022, the number of employees of the
Group was 55 (2021: 41). Remuneration is determined by
reference to market terms and the performance, qualification
and experience of individual employee. Year-end bonus
based on individual performance will be paid to employees as
recognition of and reward for their contributions.

FUTURE PROSPECTS

Economic growth of Mainland China slowed down to 3.0% in
2022 from 8.1% of 2021 due to disruptions of Covid-19. The
epidemic had officially ended in Q1 2023 and would unlikely
have any further impacts on the economy.

While the pace of global economic recovery is continually
disturbed by rate hike expectations, persisting problems of
leading real estate developers and also financial stresses of
local government and private sectors will be back under the
spotlight. It is believed that boosting domestic investments
remains the mission of the government in 2023. The Group's
businesses will benefit from merits of fiscal efforts in promoting
economic growth and domestic demand.

The Group will maintain a prudent but optimistic view on its
business environment of 2023. In terms of product segments,
the heritage gold jewellery products will continue to dominate
the market among higher- end consumers while younger buyers
with lower budget gravitate towards lighter, more affordable,
trendier, and lightweight gold jewellery in modern designs. For
the IT Products and Services segment, the Group will keep
looking for opportunities which have synergies with its core
business.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
TRERBME

(1)

(2)

11

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
PRACTICES

The Company is committed to the establishment of good
corporate governance practices and procedures. The
Directors believe that sound and reasonable corporate
governance practices are essential for the growth of
the Company and for safeguarding the shareholders’
interests and the Company's assets.

The Company’'s code of corporate governance practices
was adopted with reference to the code provisions of
the Corporate Governance Code (the “Code Provisions”)
contained in Appendix 15 of the GEM Listing Rules to
ensure that the Group’s business activities and decision-
making processes are regulated in a proper and prudent
manner. The Company has compiled with the Corporate
Governance Code set out in the Appendix 15 of the GEM
Listing Rules during the year ended 31 December 2022
except where otherwise stated.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is responsible for overseeing the strategic
directions, management, business and financial
performance of the Group.

The Board has delegated the day-to-day operational
responsibilities of the Group’s business to the executive
management team under the leadership of Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer and various Board committees.

Board Composition

The Board currently comprises the following members:

Executive Directors:
Ms. LI Xia

Mr. CHONG Yu Ping
Mr. CHEN Yin

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Mr. LAM Tin Faat

Ms. ZHAO Xiaxia

Ms. NA Xin

Yu Tak International Holdings Limited ANNUAL REPORT 2022
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

(2)
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Board Meeting

The Board meets at least four times a year to review
financial and operating performance and discuss the
Group’s direction and strategy. Details of the attendance
of the Board of Directors are as follows:

(2)
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31 Mar 2022 12 May 2022 13 May 2022 12 Aug 2022 23 Sep 2022 14 Nov 2022

—E-_-f CZE--F C-B--fE C-B-_-fF CZBE-_-f C"B--E

=A=t-B #A+=H HA+t=A NAt=A RA=t=H +-At@EA

Ms. LI Xia FELT 4 v/ v/ v/ v/ v/
Mr. CHONG Yu Ping  #RE¥54 v/ v v/ v/ v/ v/
Mr. CHEN Yin BRELE v v/ v/ v/ v/ v/
Mr. LAM Tin Faat MRELE v/ v / v/ / v
Ms. NA Xin il X BRE v v/ v v/ v/
Ms. ZHAO Xiaxia HEERL / X RE X RE v/ v/ X RE
Directors are given notice of regular Board meetings of %%ﬁmﬂﬁ%%A%} BT V14KE
at least 14 days in advance. The Directors will receive BEA BEEEREEeeSRTNRD
details of agenda with comprehensive reports on the IR ©EETT - UREEESIEEBER
management’s strategic plans, updates by business unit M E Y FSRE  EREMTEREE
heads on their lines of business, financial objectives, TERIEM S EHER C BEBE - 5E

plans and actions at least 3 days before a Board meeting.

All Directors have access to the Company Secretary
who is responsible for ensuring that Board procedures
are complied with and advises the Board on corporate
governance and compliance matters.

The executive Directors meet every two weeks to review
company business pipeline, receivables, and business
unit performance. Senior management of the Company
(the “Senior Management”) meets with Business Unit
Management every week to review project status, and
business unit issues.

The Company has undertaken several meetings, first
with Senior Management, second with the audit
committee, and subsequently with the Board, to discuss
and review the Group's practice on corporate governance
and make specific checks on the Group’'s compliance
via a compliance matrix in accordance to the criteria set
forth by the GEM Listing Rules.

The Company Secretary has assisted the chairman of the
Board in preparing the agenda for each meeting and the
minutes of such meetings are kept by the Company’s
company secretary or other duly authorised person. All
minutes are open for inspection by any Director on reasonable
notice. Draft(s) and final version of the minutes are sent to
Directors for comment and records, respectively.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Non-executive Directors

The Company confirmed that annual confirmations
of independence were received from each of the
Company’'s independent Non-executive Directors
pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and all
independent non-executive directors are considered to
be independent.

The function of the independent non-executive Directors
includes but not limited to participating in Board meetings
and meetings of committees to bring an independent
judgement to bear on issues of strategy, policy,
performance, accountability, resources, key appointments
and standards of conduct. The written terms of reference
for their functions in the respective committees; namely
Nomination Committee, Remuneration Committee and
Audit Committee are available on the Websites of Stock
Exchange and the Company.

Directors’ Training

Directors must keep abreast of their collective
responsibilities. Every newly appointed Director
should receive induction and subsequent briefing and
professional development.

Pursuant to Code A.6.5 of the Code Provisions (which is
effective from 1 April 2012), Directors should participate
in continuous professional development to develop and
refresh their knowledge and skills. This is to ensure that
their contribution to the Board remains informed and
relevant. During the period, all Directors have participated
in appropriate continuous professional development
activities by way of reading materials relevant to the
Company’s business or to the Directors’ duties and
responsibilities.

Mr. Lam Tin Faat, as the chairman of the Audit
Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination
Committee also attended a number of seminars/courses
in relation to continuous professional developments
organised by The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants during the year in 2022.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Directors’ Liability Insurance

Appropriate liability insurance, the coverage of which
is reviewed annually, has been arranged to indemnify
the Directors’ risk exposure arising out of corporate
activities.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER

Pursuant to Code A.2.1 of the Code Provisions, the
roles of chairman and chief executive officer should
be separate and should not be performed by the
same individual, so that there is a clear division of
responsibilities between the management of the Board
and the day-to-day management of the Company's
business to ensure a balance of power and authority.

Ms. Li Xia has become the Chairman of the Board
since 1 December 2021 while she serves as the Chief
Executive Officer of Company. As all major decisions of
the Company are made in consultation with members of
the Board, the Company believes that there is adequate
balance of power and authority in place though vesting
the roles of both chairman and chief executive officer
in the same person. The Board will review the decision
and its impairs on operation, if any, on a continuing basic
and will takes those corrective actions decisively as
necessary.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee was established on 11 August
2000. The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are
available on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange. The Audit Committee’s principal duties are to
review and supervise the financial reporting process and
internal control procedures of the Group.

The revised terms of reference of Audit Committee in
accordance with Rules 5.05 (2) and 5.28 to 5.29 and
Code C3 of the Code Provisions of the GEM Listing
Rules was adopted.

The members of Audit Committee is currently comprised
Mr. Lam Tin Faat, Ms. Na Xin and Ms. Zhao Xiaxia, all
of whom are independent Non-executive Directors. Mr.
Lam Tin Faat is the chairman of the Audit Committee.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE (Continued)

The Audit Committee’s principal duties are to review and
supervise the financial reporting process, internal control
procedures and risk management system of the Group.

The Group's unaudited quarterly and interim results
and audited annual results during the year ended 31
December 2022 have been reviewed by the Audit
Committee, who is of the opinion that such statements
comply with the applicable accounting standards and that
adequate disclosures have been made.

The summary of work of the audit committee during the
period is as follows:—

- met with the external auditor, reviewed and made
recommendations for the Board's approval on
the annual, interim and quarterly reports of the
Company;

- reviewed and approved audit fee;

- recommended the re-appointment of Grant
Thornton Hong Kong Limited as auditor, subject to
the Shareholders’ approval at the annual general
meeting;

- reviewed the effectiveness of the Company’s risk
management and internal control systems; and

- reviewed the adequacy of resources, qualifications
and experience of staff of the Company’s accounting
and financial reporting function.

Details of the attendance of members at Audit Committee
meeting are as follows:
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee was established on
10 May 2005. The written terms of reference of the
remuneration committee are available on the websites of
the Company and the Stock Exchange. The Remuneration
Committee is to make recommendations to the Board on
the Company’s policy and structure for all directors and
senior management’'s remuneration.

The revised terms of reference of remuneration committee
in accordance with Code B.1.2 of the Code Provisions
of the GEM Listing Rules was adopted on the Board
meeting held on 21 March 2012.

The members of Remuneration Committee is currently
comprised Mr. Lam Tin Faat and Ms. Na Xin, both are
independent Non-executive Directors, and Ms. Li Xia
who is an executive Director, Mr. Lam Tin Faat is the
chairman of the Remuneration Committee.

The Remuneration Committee should hold at least one
regular meeting in a year. During the year under review,
the members of Remuneration Committee, Mr. Lam
Tin Faat, and Ms. Li Xia attended the Remuneration
Committee Meeting on 14 November 2022.

The summary of work of the remuneration committee
during the period is as follows:—

- reviewed and recommended to the Board on the
remuneration packages of the executive Directors
and senior management of the Company; and

- reviewed and recommended to the Board on the
Directors’ fees of independent non-executive
Directors.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee was established on 21 March
2012. The written terms of reference of the nomination
committee are available on the websites of the Company
and the Stock Exchange. The Nomination Committee is
to assist the Board to deal with matters in relation to
appointment of members of the Board.

The written terms of reference of nomination committee
in accordance with Code A.5.2 of the Code Provisions
of the GEM Listing Rules was adopted on the Board
meeting held on 21 March 2012.

The members of Nomination Committee is currently
comprised Mr. Lam Tin Faat and Ms. Na Xin, both are
independent Non-executive Directors, and Ms. Li Xia
who is an executive Director, Mr. Lam Tin Faat is the
chairman of the Nomination Committee.

The Nomination Committee should hold at least one
regular meeting in a year. During the year under review,
the members of Nomination Committee, Mr. Lam Tin
Faat, and Ms. Li Xia attended the Nomination Committee
Meeting on 14 November 2022.

The summary of work of the nomination committee
during the period is as follows:—

- reviewed the existing Board’s structure, size and
composition; and

- reviewed and assessed the independence of the
independent non-executive Directors.

The Nomination Committee reviews the structure,
size and composition (including the skills, knowledge
and experience) of the Board regularly to ensure
that the Board has a balance of expertise, skills and
experience appropriate for the requirements of the
business of the Company. Where vacancies on the
Board exist, the Nomination Committee will carry out
the selection process by making reference to the skills,
experience, professional knowledge, personal integrity
and time commitments of the proposed candidates,
the Company’s needs and other relevant statutory
requirements and regulations.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE (Continued)

Board Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy which
sets out the approach to achieve a sustainable and
balanced development of the Company and also to
enhance the quality of performance of the Company.

The Company seeks to achieve board diversity through
the consideration of a number of factors, including but
not limited to age, cultural and educational background,
ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and
length of service. All board appointments will be based
on meritocracy, and candidates will be considered against
objective criteria, having due regard for the benefits of
diversity on the Board.

Selection of candidates will be based on a range of
diversity perspectives as stated in the above. The
ultimate decision will be based on merit and contribution
that the selected candidates will bring to the Board.

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises
six directors. Three of the directors are independent
non-executive directors and independent of management,
thereby promoting critical review and control of the
management process. The Board is also characterised
by significant diversity, whether considered in terms of
professional background, gender and skills.

COMPANY SECRETARY

All Directors have access to the advice and services of the
Company Secretary. Our Company Secretary is currently
Mr. Chan Hoi Keung Terence who were appointed on 12
November 2018. The Company Secretary is responsible
for facilitating the process of implementing the Board's
decision, as well as communications between the
members of the Board and the management team of the
Company, and advising the Board and its committees on all
governance matters.
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DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES
TRANSACTION

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding
securities transactions by Directors on terms no less
exacting than the required standard of dealings set out in
Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules. Having made
specific enquiry of all Directors, all Directors confirms that
they have complied with the required standard of dealings
and the code of conduct regarding securities transactions
by the Directors adopted by the Company throughout the
year ended 31 December 2022.

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’S
RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors acknowledge their responsibility for
preparing the Company’s financial statements for the
year ended 31 December 2022 which reflect true
and fair view of the financial position of the Group
and in compliance with relevant law and disclosure
provisions of the Listing Rules. The Board is responsible
for presenting a balanced, clear and comprehensible
assessment extends to annual and interim reports, other
inside information announcements and other financial
disclosures required under the GEM Listing Rules.

The Group appointed Grant Thornton Hong Kong Limited
as the Group's external auditor. The statement by Grant
Thornton Hong Kong Limited regarding their reporting
responsibilities to the shareholders on the consolidated
financial statements of the Group is set out in the
Independent Auditor's Report on pages 37 to 42 of this
annual report.
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(10) AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION (10) %2 ET N &

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the remuneration
for the provision of audit and non-audit services by the
auditors to the Group is as follows:

HE_Z-_—_F+-A=1+—RHLFE -
% BT [A) A £ B4 (A% B & JEAZ BRI 9
BT

2022 2021
—E—— —E-—4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET T
Grant Thornton Hong Kong Limited BE () S EIBAT
BRAF
Annual audit services FEZERE 900 860
Non-audit services IR B RS = =
Total 1Bzt 900 860

(11) RISK MANAGEMENT AND

INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board acknowledges that it is responsible for the risk
management and internal control system of the Group
and reviewing their effectiveness on an ongoing basis.
Such risk management and internal control systems are
designed for managing risk rather than eliminating the
risk of failure to achieve business objective, and can only
provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against
material misstatement or loss.

Management team of the Company has established
the Group’s Internal Control Policies and Guidance for
monitoring the internal control system.

The Board has delegated to the management team of
the Company the implementation of such internal control
systems as well as the review of relevant financial,
operational and compliance controls and risk management
procedures. Qualified personnels and individual business unit
heads of the Group maintain and monitor the compliance
of these internal control systems and procedures on an
ongoing basis and report variances to senior management.
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(12) INTERNAL CONTROL

Based on the assessment and review made by the Board
and senior management on the effectiveness of the internal
control system, the Audit Committee is satisfied that:

o the internal control and accounting systems of the
Group are designed to provide reasonable assurance
as to material assets of the Group are protected,
business risks attributable to the Group are identified
and monitored, material transactions are executed
in accordance with management'’s authorisation and
the accounts are reliable for publication; and

o there is an ongoing process in place for identifying,
evaluating and managing the significant risks faced
by the Group.

(13) COMMUNICATION WITH

21

SHAREHOLDERS AND
SHAREHOLDERS RIGHT

The Company endeavors to maintain an on-going
dialogue with the shareholders and in particular, through
annual general meetings or other general meetings to
communicate with the shareholders and encourage their
participation. The Company will ensure that there are
separate resolutions for separate issues proposed at the
general meetings.

The Company will continue to maintain an open and
effective investor communication policy and to update
investors on relevant information on the Group’s business
in a timely manner, subject to relevant regulatory
requirements.

A) General Meetings

The general meetings of the Company provide a
good opportunity for communication between the
shareholders of the Company and the Board. An
annual general meeting of the Company shall be
held in each year and at such time and place to be
determined by the Board. Each general meeting,
other than an annual general meeting, shall be called
a special general meeting.
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(13) COMMUNICATION WITH
SHAREHOLDERS AND
SHAREHOLDERS RIGHT (cContinued)

A)

B)

C)

General Meetings (Continued)

The 2023 AGM is scheduled on 20 June 2023. A
circular containing, among other matters, further
information will be despatched to the shareholders
of the Company together with this report in
accordance with the Bye-Laws, the GEM Listing
Rules and other applicable laws and regulations.

Rights and Procedures for Shareholders to

Convene an Extraordinary General Meeting

Pursuant to Section 58 of the Bye-Laws, any one or
more shareholders of the Company holding as at the
date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-
tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying
the right of voting at general meetings of the Company
shall at all times have the right, by written requisition
to the Board or the company secretary, to require
an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the
Board for the transaction of any business specified in
such requisition. Such meeting shall be held within
two months after the deposit of such requisition.
If within twenty-one (21) days of such deposit the
Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting the
requisitionists themselves may do so in accordance
with the provisions of Section 74 (3) of the Bye-Laws.

Right to Put Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders of the Company have the right to put
enquiries to the Board. All such enquiries shall be
in writing and sent by post to the principal place
of business of the Company in Hong Kong for the
attention of the Board or the company secretary.
Shareholders may also make enquiries with the
Board at the general meetings of the Company.
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(14) ATTENDANCE OF GENERAL MEETING

Pursuant to code provision E.1.2 of the CG Code, the
Chairman should attend the annual general meeting of the
Company and he should invite the chairmen of the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the Nomination
Committee and any other committees (as appropriate)
to attend. Pursuant to code provision A.6.7 of the CG
Code, independent non-executive Director and other non-
executive Directors should attend the general meetings of
the Company.

INVESTORS RELATIONS

The Company has established a range of communication channels
between itself and the Shareholders, and investors. These include
answering guestions through the general meetings, the publication
of annual, interim and quarterly reports, notices, announcements
and circulars on the Company’s website at http://www.hkjewelry.
net/ and meetings with investors and the Shareholders. News
update of the Group's business development and operation are
also available on the website.

HANDLING AND DISSEMINATION OF
INSIDE INFORMATION

With respect to the monitoring and disclosure of inside
information, the Company has formulated and implemented its
guidelines, with an aim to ensure that the insiders abide by the
confidentially requirement and fulfil the disclosure obligation. The
guidelines includes, but not limited to, the procedures as follows:

° The Group has strictly prohibited unauthorised use of
confidential or inside information;

° The Group has stipulated policy on handling of rumours,
unintentional selective disclosure and waiver to the
disclosure of inside information, external communication
guidelines and compliance and reporting procedures;

o The Group authorised only the executive Directors and
company secretary for responding to external enquiries
about Group's affairs; and

° Dissemination of inside information of the Company shall
be conducted by publishing the relevant information on
the website of GEM and the Company, according to the
requirements of the GEM Listing Rules.

There had been no change in the Company’s constitutional
documents during the period.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
ESEEHRE

The Directors have pleasure in submitting their report and
audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
Details of the principal activities and other particulars of its
principal subsidiaries are set out in note 16 to the consolidated
financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022
and financial position of the Group at that date are set out in
the consolidated financial statements on pages 43 to 145.

The Directors do not recommend payment of any dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: Nil).

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2022 is set out in the “Financial Summary"”,
“Chairman’s Statement” and “Management Discussion and
Analysis” on page 5, page 6 and pages 7 to 10 respectively of
this Annual Report.

The Group is committed to enhancing governance, promoting
employee benefits and development, protecting the
environment and giving back to society in order to fulfill social
responsibility and achieve sustainable growth. The Group has
complied with the relevant laws and regulations that have
significant impact on the operations of the Group.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 5 of
the annual report.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company
are set out in note 27 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group and
the Company during the year are set out in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity on page 47 to 48 and note 29
to the consolidated financial statements respectively.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
ESEHRE

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Company had no
distributable reserve.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company's Bye-laws, and there was no restriction against such
rights under the laws of Bermuda, which would oblige the
Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
shareholders.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
THE COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the year ended 31 December 2022, neither the Company
nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or redeemed any
of the Company’s shares.

DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the
date of this report were as follows:

Executive Directors:
Ms. LI Xia

Mr. CHONG Yu Ping
Mr. CHEN Yin

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Mr. LAM Tin Faat

Ms. NA Xin

Ms. ZHAO XiaXia

Pursuant Article 83(2) of the Bye-laws of the Company, the
Directors shall have the power from time to time and at any
time to appoint any person as a Director either to fill a casual
vacancy on the Board. Any Director so appointed by the Board
shall hold office only until the next following annual general
meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-
election at that meeting. Pursuant to Article 84(2), any Director
appointed pursuant to Article 83(2) shall not be taken into
account in determining which particular Directors or the number
of Directors who are to retire by rotation.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
ESEEHRE

DIRECTORS (cContinued)

Pursuant to Article 84 of the Bye-laws of the Company, at each
annual general meeting one-third of the Directors for the time
being (or, if their number is not three or a multiple of three, the
number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from
office by rotation provided that notwithstanding anything herein,
every Director shall be subject to retirement at least once every
three years. Mr. Chen Yin, Mr. Lam Tin Faat and Ms. Zhao Xia
Xia will retire by rotation at the forthcoming annual general
meeting and being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

The biographical details of Directors and Senior Management
are set out on pages 34 to 36.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has an unexpired service
contract which is not determinable by the Company or any of its
subsidiaries within one year without payment of compensation
(other than statutory compensation).

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for reviewing the
Group’'s emolument policy and structure for all remuneration
of the Directors and senior management of the Group, having
regard to the Group’s operating results, individual performance
and comparable market practices.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS

Details of the connected and related party transactions are set
out in the Directors’ Report and note 32 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Notwithstanding the above, no transactions, arrangements or
contracts of significance in relation to the Group’s business to
which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and
in which a Director or the Director’'s connected party had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the
end of the year or at any time during the year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACT

No contracts concerning the management and administration
of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company were entered into or existed during the year.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
ESEHRE

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES
AND DEBENTURES

At 31 December 2022, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company in the
shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company and its
associated corporations, as recorded in the register maintained
by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (the “SFQO"), or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the GEM Listing
Rules were as follows:

Long positions in the ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each
of the Company

EERFETHRAERKRAD - HER
ORESTRHEEZREERKXR

RZFE-_=—F+=-_A=+—H BREAQRER
FHMEEEG([FHRBEERD ) E35215R
EFEZZLMATE - KRR R ATGEM _ETIR
G TFARRIRBRZBA » ARRESERIT
BBENA DR REMBEEE &K - HEKRG
SEHFPRHEIERRABRNET

RAQXFBREECI10BTEBR TR

Number of ordinary shares held

FEEBEREA
Percentage of
the issued
Held by share capital
Beneficial Held controlled of the
Owner by family corporation Total Company
EEARERT
Name of Director ESi2 ERBEEA HREEE HEZEAREE ok ENEp
Ms. LI Xia FELT - - 804,159,697 804,159,697 41.29%
(Note 1)
(Hit1)
Mr. CHEN Yin RELE - - 149,455,740 149,455,740 7.67%
(Note 2)
(Hi2)
Mr. CHONG Yu Ping AETEE 36,726,000 - - 36,726,000 1.88%
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Long positions in the ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each
of the Company (Continued)

Notes:

(1) These shares were held by Ocean Expert Investments Limited,
a limited company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands
which is wholly-owned by Ms. Li Xia.

(2) These shares were held by Flourish Zone Limited, a company

incorporated in the British Virgin Islands which is wholly-owned
by Mr. Chen Yin.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors nor their
associates had any interests or short positions in any shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations as at 31 December 2022.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
ESEHRE

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS FERR

At 31 December 2022, the register of substantial shareholders WRZ-E-——&F#+=-A=+—H ' BA QT ER
maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the FEAKHEIEEFIEICKEFEZFEIRREZ AT
SFO shows that the following shareholders had notified the & @ TZIRE D HERQ B RAQN T D EITRAKA
Company of relevant interests and short positions in the issued A HBEZR AR °

share capital of the Company.

Percentage
Number of of the issued
issued share capital
Capacity in which interests are ordinary of the
Name of party Notes held shares held Company
i FIBERT  (BADRERT
BEERE B izt BEERNSH EEREE RABS L
Ocean Expert Investments Limited Note 1 Beneficial owner 804,159,697 41.29%
BERERRLA fizt1  BEmBEAEA
Ms. LI Xia Note 1 Interest in a controlled corporation 804,159,697 41.29%
FERL M1 REEFIDRZER
Flourish Zone Limited Note 2 Beneficial owner 149,455,740 7.67%
BEARAT Mtz  BRBAEA
Mr. CHEN Yin Note 2 Interest in a controlled corporation 149,455,740 7.67%
BRE LA Mtz REEHIRRZ#R
CK Hutchison Holdings Limited Note 3 Interest in controlled corporations 143,233,151 7.35%
RIMGZEXERARAT M3 REEHIDRZER

29 Yu Tak International Holdings Limited ANNUAL REPORT 2022



DIRECTORS’ REPORT
ESEHRE

Notes:

(7) Ocean Expert Investments Limited is a company incorporated in
the British Virgin Islands and wholly owned by Ms. Li Xia.

(2) Flourish Zone Limited is a company incorporated in the British
Virgin Islands and wholly-owned by Mr. Chen Yin.

(3) CK Hutchison is deemed to be interested in a total of 143,233,151
shares of the Company through its controlled companies.

Save as disclosed above, the Company has not been notified of
any other interests or short positions in the issued share capital
of the Company as at 31 December 2022.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, the aggregate turnover attributable to the
Group’'s five largest customers was approximately 58% of
the Group's total turnover and the Group’s largest customer
accounted for approximately 22% of the Group's turnover.

The aggregate purchases during the year attributable to the
Group's five largest suppliers was approximately 100% of
the Group's total purchases and the Group’'s largest supplier
accounted for approximately 69% of the Group's total
purchases.

At no time during the year, the Directors, their associates or
any shareholder (which to the knowledge of the directors owns
more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) had any interest
in these major suppliers or customers.

(1) BBEREFRAFABREBELHSFMAT
HIRNE]  AHFELL T EHE °

(2) BHERRABREEE L E LA 2
A LHRELLELTEHE

3) R R BEBRIZH N AIRAE 143,233,151
BRAR ARG G #Ew -

B EXAHIEEI - WELMALTHEERARR
TE-F+-A=+—HEBEELRQARBDBITR
Rz EAEMERIAR o

TERFRHEER

FA - KEAKEEARREPZEXBRARENR
SEBLEERTEN8% MABAAEEZATFZ
BEBEAREEREN2% -

FR - AAEEERAHERELN ZRBES R
EAREEBRBRELN69% - MANEEZAHE
BEL  RBRA A S BRIREED69% »

FREF REIBEATIEARR(EE
EMMERARARFRALRIALE)REEBUEF
TEHEBHIES 2 EAHES -

“ToCFEH WREMERARAT 30



DIRECTORS’ REPORT
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ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE
SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Other than as disclosed above, at no time during the year was the
Company, its subsidiaries or its associated corporations a party to
any arrangement that enables the Directors to acquire benefits by

means of acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company
or its associated corporation.

CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS

Except as disclosed in the consolidated financial statements,
the group had no other partial transaction with related parties.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
ESEEHRE

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the year, none of the Directors, the management
shareholders or their respective associates (as defined in the
GEM Listing Rules) had an interest in a business which causes
or may cause significant competition with the business of the
Group.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

At no time during the year and up to the date of this report,
there was or is any permitted indemnity provision being in force
for the benefit of any directors of the Company (whether made
by the Company or otherwise) or of its associated company (made
by the Company).

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

All the Directors do not have any financial, business, family or
other material/relevant relationship with each other.

The Company confirmed that annual confirmations of independence
were received from each of the Company’s independent non-
executive Directors pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules
and all independent non-executive Directors are considered to be
independent.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established an Audit Committee on 11 August
2000 with written terms of reference in accordance with Rules
5.28 to 5.29 of the GEM Listing Rules. The Audit Committee
currently comprise three members — Mr. Lam Tin Faat, Ms.
Zhao Xiaxia and Ms. Na Xin, all of whom are Independent Non-
executive Directors. Mr. Lam Tin Faat is the chairman of the
Audit Committee. The Audit Committee’s principal duties are
to review and supervise the financial reporting process and
internal control procedures of the Group. The Audit Committee
met on a quarterly basis during the year ended 31 December
2022.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the
Company's total issued share capital was held by the public as
at the date of this annual report.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to the establishment of good
corporate governance. Information on the corporate governance
practices adopted by the Company is set out in the Corporate
Governance Report on pages 11 to 23.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Saved as disclosed elsewhere in this annual report, there is no
significant event occurring after the reporting period.

AUDITOR

A resolution will be submitted to the forthcoming annual
general meeting to re-appoint Messrs. Grant Thornton Hong
Kong Limited as the auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Ms. LI Xia
Chairman

Hong Kong
21 April 2023
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENSREEABER

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. LI Xia (Age 49)

Chairman, Chief Executive Officer

Ms Li has been appointed as the Chairman of the Company,
responsible for leading the work of the Board and setting
operation direction and investment strategies of the Company.

Ms. Li is also the Chief Executive Officer of the Company,
who is responsible for the corporate planning and business
development of the Company. Ms. Li served in Shanghai
Shenggiu Investment Development Limited*, and was
appointed as executive vice president with her experience
and strength in jewellery industry. Ms. Li was responsible for
administration and human resource management, marketing
operations and brand promotion. At the same time, Ms. Li also
served as the special-commissioned jewellery operating adviser
for Baidi Jewellery to lead the company to achieve excellent
results, which made her the veteran in the jewellery business.
Ms. Li graduated from Central Luzon State University, Republic
of the Philippines with a degree of Bachelor of Science in
Business Administration. Ms. Li has been an Executive Director
of the Group since 3 July 2012.

Mr. CHONG Yu Ping, also known as Mr. Zhuang
Ruping (Age 56)

Mr. Chong has over 20 years of relevant experience in the
jewellery and investment industry. Prior to joining the Company,
Mr. Chong has been appointed as the general manager and
executive Director of a private company, Shenzhen Yihua
Jewellery Co., Ltd* and from 2011 to present, he is the director
and legal representative of Shenzhen Yihua Jewellery Co., Ltd, a
company which is a substantial shareholder of the Company as
disclosed under the section headed “Substantial Shareholders”
in the Directors’ Report included herein. Mr. Chong was
appointed as an executive Director and as the Chairman of the
Company on 17 February 2016.

*  For identification purpose only
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENSREEAEBER

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (Continued)

Mr. CHEN Yin (Age 41)

Mr. Chen is an entrepreneur in the Mainland China, who
held senior positions in various private companies principally
engaged in luxury goods trading business. Mr. Chen obtained
the Diploma of Graduate Gemologist, Diploma of Diamonds and
Diploma of Colored Stones from the Gemological Institute of
America. Mr. Chen has been as an Executive Director of the
Group since 3 July 2012.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Mr. LAM Tin Faat (Age 47)

Mr. Lam holds a bachelor degree of business administration
from The Chinese University of Hong Kong. He has more
than 10 years of experience in financial audit, accounting and
financial management. He is a fellow member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants in the United Kingdom and a
member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England
and Wales. Mr. Lam is also the sole proprietor of TF Lam &
Company, a CPA practice in Hong Kong, and a director of Top
Team Secretary Limited. Mr. Lam has been an independent
non-executive Director of the Group since 3 July 2012.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS (continued)

Ms. NA Xin (Age 42)

Ms. Na was the chief operating officer of JEIIT L3 % Tk
EZEHMAR AT (Shenzhen Jiuha Cai Jewellery Co., Ltd)*, a
company specialised in qualified jewellery trading business
from 2008 to 2012. She was an assistant to chief executive
officer for Little Sheep North America (Vancouver) Branch*
from 2012 to 2013. Ms. Na completed her Bachelor's
degree in English in the School of Humanities and Social
Science of Beijing Jiaotong University (formerly known as
the Northern Jiaotong University) in 2003. Ms. Na has been
an independent non-executive Director of the Group since
1 December 2014.

Ms. ZHAO Xiaxia (Aged 43)

Ms. Zhao was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director on 9 July 2018. Ms. Zhao obtained a college diploma
of history education in Qingdao University* in 2000. She has
been serving as the assistant to the chairman and deputy
general manager of a PRC jewellery company for several
years, principally responsible for executive, management,
and coordination work. Ms. Zhao has ample experience in
marketing, exhibition and operation of jewellery bands.

* For identification purpose only
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

B 2B E

To the members of Yu Tak International Holdings Limited
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Yu
Tak International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) set out on pages 43 to
145, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2022, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2022, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing ("HKSAs"”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’'s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”),
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

and we have
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

B ZEARE

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These

matters were addressed in

the context of our audit of the

consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion

on these matters.

Existence and valuation of inventories

Refer to note 2.7, note 4 and note 18 to the consolidated

financial statements.

Key Audit Matter

As at 31 December 2022,
the Group had inventories of
HK$43,937,000. Inventories are
carried at the lower of cost and
net realisable value.

The Group's inventories mainly
comprised gold and jewellery
products which are subject to
risk of changes in market value.
In determining the net realisable
value, estimates and judgements
are applied by the management
in respect of the economic
condition, forecast market price
and marketability of products.

We considered this as key audit
matter due to the significance of
inventories (representing 36% of
total assets) and the involvement
of management judgement and
estimation on the net realisable
value of inventories.

How the matter was addressed
in our audit

Our audit procedures to the existence
and valuation of inventories included
the following:

o attended physical inventory
countsatyearendand
performed “two-way"” count on
a sample basis;

o inspected the external laboratory
reports on the authenticity of
gold and jewellery products for
the samples selected by us;

° obtained an understanding of
management’s process for
identification of slow-moving
inventories and estimation
of net realisable value of
inventories;

° assessed, on a sample basis,
the accuracy of the ageing of
inventories; and

° tested the net realisable value
of inventories with reference to
subsequent sales information
and external market price data,
on a sample basis.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

B 2B E

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises all the information included in
the 2022 annual report of the Company, but does not include
the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work
we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors assisted by the Audit Committee are responsible
for overseeing the Group's financial reporting process.

39 Yu Tak International Holdings Limited ANNUAL REPORT 2022

Hib&EH

EEFUHEHMEHNAR - HpERBE BEAQF
T _FERAENEEHEN BTEERE
TSR MR IR RS

BPEAEMBHREANBERL TRERLMESR
BRI T HEMENERTATANEZEw o

ERMBERAMBRERE - RANEEEHE
HER - FUBaRRT - TEEMENE T RER
BUBBRERARMNEFTEETMTHENBRE
ERERE - REUFEEARERRA - ERHAM
EHTHIE  MRRMRBSEBEREEAE
AR RAIFERSZEE - £E0E - &
BREEMERFERS o

EENGAMBRRAARENEE

CHEVBBRREFLHEEMAA R
BFEERSREGAVBEHREMBENA
BRIEHI - DAMEAR S M ISR T B R IRFE R
RMERMERBRL

EREGAMBREE EFRAFE BE5E
SELENEE N YEERBR TREEFERL
SEMNER  UREAFECERSTER -
BRIEZAEN BESEFRAFLEE - %5
BHMERNEAIER

BHERERDEFAELE
&R -

BEEEMN B H



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

B ZEARE

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion.
We report our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance
with section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act 1981 and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions
of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

° obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.

° evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

B 2B E

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue
as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention
in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the
date of our auditor’'s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as
a going concern.

evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

B ZEARE

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and communicate with them all relationships and
other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee,
we determined those matters that were of most significance in
the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’'s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Grant Thornton Hong Kong Limited
Certified Public Accountants

11th Floor, Lee Garden Two

28 Yun Ping Road

Causeway Bay

Hong Kong SAR

21 April 2023

Kwok Siu Kwan, Sylvia
Practising Certificate No.: P0O6616
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

HEBEakEtEERER

for the year ended 31 December 2022 2 —FE - —F+ - A=+—HIFFZ

2022 2021
—E_CF = ke
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
Fd5E FET T
Revenue WA 5 28,785 41,361
Other income HoAth iz 7 1,723 2,412
Change in inventories GFEZE) (2,921) (10,978)
Purchase of goods BEEM (6,147) (6,570)
Professional fees HEEH (6,045) (7,554)
Employee benefits expense EEEMNRAXZ 8 (11,960) (14,833)
Depreciation e 9 (1,456) (1,415)
Expected credit loss (“ECL") FEUE ZERFR - E b FEUGK
allowance on trade receivables, BRIBEUNREHEEZ
other receivables and deposits, and FEHIZEEBE([BHEE
contract assets, net of reversal Esia D EE - REE 9 (2) (203)
Other expenses HiA> 9 (10,260) (6,001)
Reversal of write-down/(Write-down) #igi# B~ (#UR) 7 & = /]
of inventories to net realisable IR FEFE
value, net 9 1,204 (4,986)
Finance costs MBER 10 (45) (63)
Loss before income tax HRFTEHAIEER 9 (7,124) (8,820)
Income tax expense Frisfif sz 11 (171) (88)
Loss for the year FRER (7,295) (8,908)
Other comprehensive (expense)/ H2E (X)W
income
Items that will not be reclassified — B#E @& HEE1E5,2
subsequently to profit or loss: EE :
Financial assets at fair value BARBEFTAEMEER
through other comprehensive Wa([RZAarBEETA
income (“FVOCI") - net HEmrmikas s
movement in fair value reserve BE-QREEREE
(non-recycling) ) FRE (Al ElEE) 655 1,146
Items that will be reclassified BEGEETEDIE02
subsequently to profit or loss: EH
Exchange (loss)/gain on translation (&GN ERIPBRERD
of financial statements of foreign B3 (E18), WS
operations (2,773) 807
Other comprehensive (expense)/ FREMWE2E(BIX), W
income for the year (2,118) 1,953
Total comprehensive expense for FRAZME B
the year (9,413) (6,955)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
SEEsREMEZERER

for the year ended 31 December 2022 2 —FE - —F+ - A=+—HIFFZF

2022 2021
—E-F T —F
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
Bt & FE T FAT
Loss for the year attributable to: E/LFERERE :
Owners of the Company RRBEAA (6,915) (8,908)
Non-controlling interests FEPE I M R s (380) =
(7,295) (8,908)
Total comprehensive expense B2 EB A%
attributable to:
Owners of the Company RARERA (9,173) (6,955)
Non-controlling interests JEPE I 2R (240) =
(9,413) (6,955)
Loss per share BREE
Basic and diluted BERREE 12 (HKO0.36 centsi&{l) (HKO0.46 centsi&{ll)

The notes on pages 51 to 145 are an integral part of these 5121458 MM FEK L LA T EHRETN—
consolidated financial statements. i o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
e B AR R

as at 31 December 2022 R—ZFE - —&F+—-H=+—H

2022 2021
B F —ER ke
Note HK$°000 HK$'000
(= FET FAET
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERER
Non-current assets FREBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BE NERE 14 1,123 1,323
Right-of-use assets FREEE 15 2,249 836
Other financial assets Hih e R&E 17 24,878 24,223
28,250 26,382
Current assets REBEE
Inventories ER | 18 43,937 46,858
Contract assets EHEE 19 2,228 2,743
Trade receivables FEWE 5 BERN 20 1,525 9,348
Other receivables, deposits and Han e EUE - e RFER
prepayments oI 21 23,601 25,591
Cash and bank balances e KIRTTIER 22 23,438 19,562
94,729 104,102
Current liabilities REBE
Trade payables EE SRR 23 494 4,803
Other payables and accrued charges HEfthfEf T IE NFEIRE B 24 5,244 4,956
Contract liabilities EH8E 19 6,776 9,446
Amount due to a director B —REEHKIA 25 5,779 1,800
Lease liabilities HEaE 26 735 539
Tax payable FERTRRIE 189 72
19,217 21,616
Net current assets RBEEFE 75,512 82,486
Total assets less current liabilities EEZERAHERE 103,762 108,868
Non-current liability kRBERE
Lease liabilities HEAE 26 1,685 349
Net assets EEFE 102,077 108,519
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e MR R 3R

as at 31 December 2022 R=—F - —F+=-H=+—H
2022 2021
—E——F T —F
Note HK$°000 HK$'000
B 5T FET FET
EQUITY R
Share capital A& X 27 194,769 194,769
Reserves (e (95,423) (86,250)
Equity attributable to owners of Z2 T #A A BGES
the Company 99,346 108,519
Non-controlling interests FeE R 2,731 =
Total equity FESAEE 102,077 108,519
Li Xia =8 Chong Yu Ping HET
Director o= Director EF

The notes on pages 51 to 145 are an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
mEERBER

for the year ended 31 December 2022 # %

—=— —

Fr-A=1+—HIFE

Attributable to owners of the Company
LSNGEEIN T
Fair value Non-
Share  Exchange Capital ~reserve (non-  Accumulated controlling
Share capital  premium* reserve* reserve*  recycling)* losses* Total interests  Total equity
MEERSE
R&  RBEE  HERE B4R (FUEE)  EHER BE  FENMEE  REUE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T Thn Th7 1A TA7L T TAR Tz ThR
Balance at 1 January 2021 R-B--E-B-RiiEH 194,769 218,53 (3.671) (262 23102 (315,023 117,447 (1,963) 115,484
Loss for the year EmEE - = - - - (8,908 8908) = 8908)
Other comprehgnsive income: Efp2Els:
- Exchange gein on translation -BEIEBE RN
of financial statements of B
foreign operations - - 807 - - - 807 - 807
- Financiel assets at FVOCI - -BRA BB ALHAE
et movement in fair value haneaE-2n
resenve (nonecycling) EERRADSE
(F7E) - - - - 1,146 - 1,146 - 1,146
Total comprehensive income/ ERRENE /(x5
(expense] for the year - - 807 - 1,146 (8,908) (6,955 = (6,955
Acquisiton of additional interest of 8 E~FB AT ESNES
subsidary (note 16) (Hte) - - - (1973 - - (1,973 1,963 (10)
Transfer upon disposal of unlisted &3 FARAREEER
equity investments - = = = (29) B - - -
Balance at 31 Decerber 2021 RE-F+A=1-89
i 194,769 21853 (2864) (2,235 24,23 (323,906) 108,519 - 108,519
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
mEER#ER

for the year ended 31 December 2022 # % —

T —Ff —A=+—HILFE

s

Attributable to owners of the Company
LNGEEIN
Fair value Non-
Share Share  Exchange Capital ~reserve (non-  Accumulated controlling
capital ~ premium* reserve* reserve*  recycling)* losses* Total interests  Total equity
MEERE
Re  hhEE  HERE B4R (FUEE)  EiER It FEMEE  REUE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T Thn Th7L Th7n TAL T ThR T Thn
Balance at 1 January 2022 RoBooE-P-Pigs 19476 21853 86 %) a3 [BE)  108519 - 108519
Loss for the year FREE - - - - - (6,915) (6,915) (380) (7.295)
Other comprehensive expense: EHERRS:
- Bxchange flossligain on tranlation ~ ~EE BN EREHRKHE
of financia statements of AER)/ bz
foreign operations - - (2913) - - - (2913) 140 (2m3)
- Financial assets at FVOC - net -BOAEEHALMRER
movement in fair value reserve BNEREAE-LABE
(non-ecycing EhEEETE(TE) - = - = 655 = 655 = 655
Total comprehensive (expensell  FARE(RR)/hE4E
income for the year - - (2913) - 655 6,915) (9173) (240) (9413)
Capital contrbutions from HBRERTE
non-controlling interests - - - - - - - 291 291
Balance at 31 December 2022 RoEZZETZA=1-H
et 194769 21853 BT R Mg (0% %9346 2B 100m

*

The notes on pages 51 to 145 are an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.

These reserves accounts comprise the Group's deficit of
reserves of HK$95,423,000 (2021:
consolidated statement of financial position.

HK$86,250,000) in the

* ZERERBKERS
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TECCFFR HEERERERAR
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

mEBRTRER

for the year ended 31 December 2022 2 —FE - —F+ - A=+—HIFFZ

2022 2021
—E-= =FE===ks
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T
Cash flows from operating activities RELETH 2RERE
Loss before income tax B FTIS T AT & 18 (7,124) (8,820)
Adjustments for: THEE
Depreciation e 1,456 1,415
Net loss on disposal/written off of HEMEE  BER
property, plant and equipment [t FEE A 218
Gain on early termination of leases, net 2R IFFHE Wz %58 (16) -
Interest income Bz (18) (17)
ECL allowance on trade receivables, EUWE ZRR - EiEUGRIE
other receivables and deposits, and iz ARG EE 2 TEH
contract assets, net of reversal EEEEEE - HREE 2 203
Interest expense MEMZ 45 53
(Reversal of write-down)/Write-down of — (HUFEE) MR FE =
inventories to net realisable value, net A IR SR (B R 58 (1,204) 4,986
Exchange loss/(gain), net PE 5 &SR, (Weas ) F R 4,444 (1,251)
Operating loss before working capital BEESEFHH KL EIR
changes (2,344) (3,213)
Decrease in inventories FERL 692 10,996
Decrease in contract assets BHEERD 558 673
Decrease/(Increase) in trade receivables  JEUWE SEEFUR L~ (3€10) 7,473 (3,235)
Decrease/(Increase) in other receivables, HfbfEUZIE « &% RTEN
deposits and prepayments FIER AL, (38 h0) 2,754 (7,864)
(Increase)/Decrease in trade payables BB SRR (), (4,082) 2,742
Increase in other payables and accrued — HERT B RTBIZE R IR
charges and amount due to a director FE{ — R E B FRIEE BN 2,029 2,052
(Decrease)/Increase in contract liabilities & #&&ECHL) /&N (2,451) 1,974
Cash generated from operations MEEBEEA RS 4,629 4,125
Income tax paid ETETSEL (54) (117)
Net cash generated from ARE ST EL VISR
operating activities 4,575 4,008
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
MERERER

for the year ended 31 December 2022 2 —FE - —F+ - A=+—HIFFZF

2022 2021
—E-— T
Note HK$'000 HK$’'000
B aE F#&T FHT
Cash flows from investing RERETBZEERE
activities
Purchase of property, plant and BEWME - WER&HE
equipment (765) (80)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEWE - MENMEHZ
plant and equipment Fr 1S 5008 - 28
Proceeds from disposal of unlisted HEIEEMIRAIRE TS IE
equity investments = 25
Acquisition of additional interest of a  UxBE—FEIM B A T 2 F8IMERS
subsidiary 16 - (10)
Decrease in other receivables H th JE U FRIE R D - 1,876
Interest received SRR 18 17
Net cash (used in)/generated from REEE(BFH)  EEZ
investing activities B & FEE (747) 1,856
Cash flows from financing REBMEZTBH2BERE
activities
Payment of lease liabilities XNHEEaE (482) (539)
Advance from a director —ZEEBR 1,615 299
Repayment to a director M—REFEENE (16) (9,891)
Net cash generated from/(used in) A ETEES(BH)zHES
financing activities JHEE 1,117 (10,131)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash RERREESEY M
and cash equivalents (R2) #5 4,945 (4,267)
Cash and cash equivalents at R—A—B2ZREkReFE
1 January L) 19,562 23,524
Effect of foreign exchange rate MERE ) 2 28 )FE
changes, net (1,069) 3056
Cash and cash equivalents at R+=-—BA=+—HzBEER
31 December, represented by ReEEY > NESRBT
cash and bank balances & 23,438 19,5662

The notes on pages 51 to 145 are an integral part of these FE51Z146B MM EBRILEZEA P EHRERH —

consolidated financial statements. B

SRS FH HEERERERAT
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1.

51

GENERAL INFORMATION

Yu Tak International Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
is incorporated in Bermuda as an exempted company
with limited liability. The address of its registered office
is Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM11,
Bermuda and its principal place of business is Hong
Kong. The Company’s shares are listed on GEM of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”).

The Company and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”)
are principally engaged in the (i) development, sale and
implementation of enterprise software and provision of
professional services, (ii) design and sales of gold and
jewellery products, (iii) design, production and sales of
smart rehabilitation products and (iv) investment holding.
The Group’s operations are based in Hong Kong and the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC").

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2022 were approved for issue by the board
of directors on 21 April 2023.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2.1 Basis of preparation

These annual consolidated financial statements
have been prepared in accordance with Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs"”)
which collective term includes all applicable
individual HKFRSs, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKASs"”) and Interpretations issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“"HKICPA™) and the accounting
principles generally accepted in Hong Kong.

The consolidated financial statements also comply
with the applicable disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and include the
applicable disclosure requirements of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the
Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”).
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4

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2. FESTTHERHEE®)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Basis of preparation (Continued)

The significant accounting policies that have been
used in the preparation of these consolidated
financial statements are summarised below.
These policies have been consistently applied to
all the years presented unless otherwise stated.
The adoption of new and amended HKFRSs and
the impacts on the Group's consolidated financial
statements, if any, are disclosed in note 3.

These consolidated financial statements have
been prepared on the historical cost basis, except
for financial assets at FVOCI which are stated
at fair values. The measurement bases are fully
described in the accounting policies below.

It should be noted that accounting estimates
and assumptions are used in preparation of the
consolidated financial statements. Although these
estimates are based on management’s best
knowledge and judgement of current events and
actions, actual results may ultimately differ from
those estimates. The areas involving a higher
degree of judgement or complexity, or areas
where assumptions and estimates are significant
to the consolidated financial statements are
disclosed in note 4.

R ELYE (8)

RAZEE U BRERMEAZE
ZEHBRBANT - RBEFH
S ZEBRCRFAAEZBEERN
ERER - R RGBT R
M ME LR REAEBERA 7
HROFE(WNE)RHEIHRE -

RZERAM MR TIIRE LKA E
BRSO BERIABERD
MWiERARBEFAREMEEKED
TRBERIN o FTEEBRFMRN A
TEFHEK -

ERIR  RESAMBERREA
EHEFHEFT RRR - BEZEM
AANEEEEBHRESTHRITEZ
REBBRAEMIEL - EERE
REEAEARINZEMLF - B R
BEHEHSERNE - KERREMA
AHEAMBREAMEAEARE
Z BB NHIEAKE -
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2.

58

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.2

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries made up to 31 December each year.

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group.
The Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or
has rights, to variable returns from its involvement
with the entity and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the entity. When
assessing whether the Group has power over the
entity, only substantive rights relating to the entity
(held by the Group and others) are considered.

The Group includes the income and expenses of a
subsidiary in the consolidated financial statements
from the date it gains control until the date when
the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised
gains and losses on transactions between
group companies are eliminated in preparing
the consolidated financial statements. Where
unrealised losses on sales of intra-group asset are
reversed on consolidation, the underlying asset
is also tested for impairment from the Group's
perspective. Amounts reported in the financial
statements of subsidiaries have been adjusted
where necessary to ensure consistency with the
accounting policies adopted by the Group.
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.2

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Non-controlling interests represent the equity on
a subsidiary not attributable directly or indirectly
to the Company, and in respect of which the
Group has not agreed any additional terms with
the holders of those interests which would result
in the Group as a whole having a contractual
obligation in respect of those interests that
meets the definition of a financial liability. For
each business combination, the Group can elect
to measure any non-controlling interests either
at fair value or at their proportionate share of the
subsidiary’s net identifiable assets.

Non-controlling interests are presented in the
consolidated statement of financial position within
equity, separately from the equity attributable
to the owners of the Company. Non-controlling
interests in the results of the Group are presented
on the face of the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income as
an allocation of the total profit or loss and total
comprehensive income for the year between
non-controlling interests and the owners of the
Company.

Changes in the Group's interests in subsidiaries
that do not result in a loss of control are accounted
for as equity transactions, whereby adjustments are
made to the amounts of controlling interests within
consolidated equity to reflect the change in relative
interests, but no adjustments are made to goodwill
and no gain or loss is recognised.

2.

4
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2.

99

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.2

2.3

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

In the Company's statement of financial position,
investments in subsidiaries are carried at cost
less any impairment loss unless the subsidiary is
held for sale or included in a disposal group. Cost
includes directly attributable costs of investment.

The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by
the Company on the basis of dividends received
and receivable at the reporting date. All dividends
whether received out of the investee's pre or
post-acquisition profits are recognised in the
Company’s profit or loss.

Foreign currency translation

The consolidated financial statements are
presented in Hong Kong Dollars ("HK$"), which is
also the functional currency of the Company.
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.3

Foreign currency translation (Continued)

In the individual financial statements of the
consolidated entities, foreign currency transactions
are translated into the functional currency of
the individual entity using the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. At the
reporting date, monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated
at the foreign exchange rates ruling at that date.
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from
the settlement of such transactions and from the
reporting date retranslation of monetary assets
and liabilities are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
not retranslated (i.e. only translated using the
exchange rates at the transaction date).

In the consolidated financial statements,
all individual financial statements of foreign
operations, originally presented in a currency
different from the Group’s presentation currency,
have been converted into HK$. Assets and
liabilities have been translated into HK$ at the
closing rates at the reporting date. Income
and expenses have been converted into HK$
at the exchange rates ruling at the transaction
dates, or at the average rates over the reporting
period provided that the exchange rates do not
fluctuate significantly. Any differences arising
from this procedure have been recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated
separately in the exchange reserve in equity.
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2.

57

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cContinued)

2.4

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are initially
recognised at acquisition cost, including any cost
directly attributable to bringing the assets to the
location and condition necessary for them to be
capable of operating in the manner intended by
the Group’s management. They are subsequently
stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the
cost of assets less their residual values over their
estimated useful lives, using the straight-line
method, at the following rates per annum:

20% to 33'/3%
10% to 50%
20% to 25%
25% to 30%

Leasehold improvements
Computer and office equipment
Furniture and fixtures

Motor vehicles

Estimates of residual value and useful life are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each
reporting date.

Gain or loss arising on retirement or disposal is
determined as the difference between the sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset
and is recognised in the profit or loss.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2. FESHBEEME®)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 Property, plant and equipment (Continued) 24 YE - -BERRZREE)

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’'s
carrying amount or recognised as a separate
asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that
future economic benefits associated with the item
will flow to the Group and the cost of the item
can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of
the replaced part is derecognised. All other costs,
such as repairs and maintenance, are charged
to the profit or loss during the financial period in
which they are incurred.

Financial instruments
Recognition and derecognition

Financial assets and financial liabilities are
recognised when the Group becomes a party
to the contractual provisions of the financial
instrument.

Financial assets are derecognised when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the
financial asset expire, or when the financial asset
and substantially all of its risks and rewards are
transferred. A financial liability is derecognised
when it is extinguished, discharged, cancelled or
expires.
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2. SUNMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cContinued)

2.5

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets

Classification and initial measurement of financial
assets

Except for those trade receivables that do not
contain a significant financing component and are
measured at the transaction price in accordance
with HKFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with
Customers”, all financial assets are initially
measured at fair value, in case of a financial asset
not at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL"),
plus transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition of the financial asset.

Financial assets are classified into the following
categories:

- amortised cost;
- FVTPL; or

= FVOCI.

The classification is determined by both:

- the entity’s business model for managing
the financial asset; and

- the contractual cash flow characteristics of
the financial asset.

All income and expenses relating to financial
assets that are recognised in profit or loss are
presented within finance costs or other income,
except for ECL allowances of trade and other
receivables which is presented as a separate item
in profit or loss.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2. FESTTHERHEE®)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.5 Financial instruments (Continued) 25 E£@WMIEE)

Financial assets (Continued) EHEE(E)

Subsequent measurement of financial assets CTHEECEEE

Debt investments BRI E

Financial assets at amortised cost REEKATENSREE

Financial assets are measured at amortised cost if HEMEEZFAS THNEE(BIIELE

the assets meet the following conditions (and are ERZAREBET AEBmTE) @ 8l

not designated as FVTPL): ZEERBHEK AT E

- they are held within a business model = N EHNIBEEREASB R
whose objective is to hold the financial MFEEMEEZLERRN
assets and collect its contractual cash THREZEHEE : &
flows; and

= the contractual terms of the financial assets = ERMEEZENEREEZ
give rise to cash flows that are solely HensmEaTNEAE R
payments of principal and interest on the KREEBAREZFE -
principal amount outstanding.

After initial recognition, these are measured R FHERE  ZSEBEEFAER

at amortised cost using the effective interest TR KRB AT E - ZS5 SR

method. Interest income from these financial BEONBWZE T ABRANE M

assets is included in other income in profit or W o WARRFZEM T EHA - RIBL

loss. Discounting is omitted where the effect of WA BB - REBEIRE KIRTT

discounting is immaterial. The Group's cash and FRUREWE SER R E MM ELK

bank balances and trade and other receivables FOB (B IETEAS 3108 M A Yk O] 12 1E

(excluding prepayments and value-added tax BRI ESRIA -

recoverable) fall into this category of financial

instruments.
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2. SUNMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cContinued)

2.5

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Subsequent measurement of financial assets
(Continued)

Equity investments

An investment in equity securities is classified as
FVTPL unless the equity investment is not held
for trading purposes and on initial recognition of
the investment, the Group elects to designate
the investment at FVOCI (non-recycling) such that
subsequent changes in fair value are recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated
n “Fair value reserve (non-recycling)” in equity.
Such elections are made on an instrument-
by-instrument basis, but only be made if the
investment meets the definition of equity from
the issuer's perspective.

The equity instruments at FVOCI are not subject
to impairment assessment. The cumulative gain or
loss in “Fair value reserve (non-recycling)” will not
be reclassified to profit or loss upon disposal of
the equity investments, and will be transferred to
accumulated losses.

Dividends from these investments in equity
instruments are recognised in profit or loss
when the Group's right to receive the dividends
is established. Dividends are included in “Other
income” in profit or loss.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2. FESTHE#MER)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.5 Financial instruments (Continued) 25 S@IAE)

Financial liabilities EREE
Classification and measurement of financial PREENSERGE
liabilities
The Group's financial liabilities include trade and AEBCRABEEENESER
other payables, amount due to a director and NHMEMNFRIE - B —RESER
lease liabilities. HEHEEAE -
Financial liabilities (other than lease liabilities) tREBE(HEEABRBRIN IFRA
are initially measured at fair value, and, where REEFER(HER) LR KA
applicable, adjusted for transaction costs unless TUAHAZE  BRIELAEBIETE/HE
the Group designated a financial liability at FVTPL. BIERARBESABDE °
Subsequently, financial liabilities (other than Hiz  emaE(HEBERIMNE
lease liabilities) are measured at amortised cost REBRFREIREHKATE
using the effective interest method except for REHEEERP I IEIEE A H T A
derivatives which are not designated as hedging HMOTETBEARIETFTIRAARBE
instruments in hedge relationships and financial ABmeREERN - KEHE
liabilities designated at FVTPL, which are carried BRARBEE @ WRHEEBRIE
subsequently at fair value with gains or losses I ERR o
recognised in profit or loss.
All interest-related charges are included in finance FIBENEMENERIF ARBE
costs. AR -
Accounting policies of lease liabilities are set out HEABENSFTBERENHE2.10
in note 2.10.
Trade and other payables and amount due to a JEIT B 5 BRI B JE (7 50 H A
director BN —HEFHIE
Trade and other payables and amount due to a FENE SEF N EMEMATIEIAL
director are recognised initially at their fair value R —2EBEHENESRA L EE
and subsequently measured at amortised cost, R BEEREBERRMNR AR
using the effective interest method. RAEE o
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2.

63

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cContinued)

2.6

Impairment of financial assets and

contract assets

HKFRS 9's impairment requirements use forward-
looking information to recognise ECL — the "ECL
model”. Instruments within the scope included
loans and other debt-type financial assets
measured at amortised cost, trade receivables and
contract assets recognised and measured under
HKFRS 15.

The Group considers a broader range of information
when assessing credit risk and measuring
ECL, including past events, current conditions,
reasonable and supportable forecasts that affect
the expected collectability of the future cash flows
of the instrument.

In applying this forward-looking approach, a
distinction is made between:

- financial instruments that have not
deteriorated significantly in credit quality since
initial recognition or that have low credit risk
(“Stage 1"); and

- financial instruments that have deteriorated
significantly in credit quality since initial
recognition and whose credit risk is not low
("Stage 2").

“Stage 3" would cover financial assets that have
objective evidence of impairment at the reporting
date.

“12-month ECL" are recognised for the Stage 1
category while “lifetime ECL" are recognised for
the Stage 2 category.
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.6

Impairment of financial assets and

contract assets (Continued)

Measurement of the ECL is determined by a
probability-weighted estimate of credit losses over
the expected life of the financial instrument.

Trade receivables and contract assets

For trade receivables and contract assets, the
Group applies a simplified approach in calculating
ECL and recognises a loss allowance based on
lifetime ECL at each reporting date. These are
the expected shortfalls in contractual cash flows,
considering the potential for default at any point
during the life of the financial assets. In calculating
the ECL, the Group has established a provision
matrix that is based on its historical credit loss
experience and external indicators, adjusted for
forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and
the economic environment.

To measure the ECL, trade receivables and contract
assets has been grouped based on shared credit
risk characteristics and the days past due. The
contract assets relate to unbilled work in progress
have substantially the same risk characteristics
as the trade receivables for the same types of
contracts. The Group has therefore concluded that
the ECL rates for trade receivables are a reasonable
approximation of the loss rates for the contract
assets.

Other financial assets measured at amortised cost

The Group measures the loss allowance for other
receivables equal to 12-month ECL, unless when
there has been a significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition, in which case the
Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment
of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is
based on significant increase in the likelihood or
risk of default occurring since initial recognition.
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2.

65

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cContinued)

2.6

Impairment of financial assets and

contract assets (Continued)

Other financial assets measured at amortised cost
(Continued)

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial assets at the reporting date with the
risk of default occurring on the financial assets
at the date of initial recognition. In making this
assessment, the Group considers both quantitative
and qualitative information that is reasonable
and supportable, including historical experience
and forward-looking information that is available
without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken
into account when assessing whether credit risk
has increased significantly:

— an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the financial instrument’s external (if
available) or internal credit rating;

— significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit default
swap prices for the debtor;

— existing or forecast adverse changes in
regulatory, business, financial, economic
conditions, or technological environment that
are expected to cause a significant decrease in
the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;
and

— an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the operating results of the debtor.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RAR I

for the year ended 31 December 2022 2 —FE - —F+ - A=+—HIFFZF

4

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2. FESTTHERHEE®)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and

contract assets (Continued)

Other financial assets measured at amortised cost
(Continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that the
credit risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition when contractual payments are
more than 30 days past due, unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes
that the credit risk on a debt instrument has not
increased significantly since initial recognition if
the debt instrument is determined to have low
credit risk at the end of each reporting period. A
debt instrument is determined to have low credit
risk if it has a low risk of default, the borrower has
strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow
obligations in the near term and adverse changes
in economic and business conditions in the longer
term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the
ability of the borrower to fulfill its contractual cash
flow obligations.

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when (i)
information developed internally or obtained from
external sources indicates that the debtor is
unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group,
in full (without taking into account any collateral
held by the Group); or (i) the financial assets is 90
days past due.

Detailed analysis of the ECL assessment of trade
receivables, contract assets and other financial
assets measured at amortised cost are set out in
note 35.4.
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2.

67

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cContinued)

2.7

2.8

2.9

Inventories

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and
net realisable value and are determined using the
first in, first out basis. Net realisable value is the
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of
business less the applicable selling expenses.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash at bank
and in hand.

Contract assets and contract liabilities

A contract asset is recognised when the Group
recognises revenue before being unconditionally
entitled to the consideration under the payment
terms set out in the contract. Contract assets
are assessed for ECL in accordance with the
policy set out in note 2.6 and are reclassified to
receivables when the right to the consideration
has become unconditional.

A contract liability is recognised when the customer
pays consideration before the Group recognises
the related revenue. A contract liability would also
be recognised if the Group has an unconditional
right to receive consideration before the Group
recognises the related revenue. In such cases, a
corresponding receivable would also be recognised.

For a single contract with the customer, either
a net contract asset or a net contract liability is
presented. For multiple contracts, contract assets
and contract liabilities of unrelated contracts are
not presented on a net basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RAR I

for the year ended 31 December 2022 2 —FE - —F+ - A=+—HIFFZF

2. SUNMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.10 Leases
Definition of a lease and the Group as a lessee

At inception of a contract, the Group considers
whether a contract is, or contains a lease. A lease
is defined as ‘a contract, or part of a contract, that
conveys the right to use an identified asset (the
underlying asset) for a period of time in exchange
for consideration’. To apply this definition, the
Group assesses whether the contract meets three
key evaluations which are whether:

° the contract contains an identified asset,
which is either explicitly identified in the
contract or implicitly specified by being
identified at the time the asset is made
available to the Group;

o the Group has the right to obtain substantially
all of the economic benefits from use of
the identified asset throughout the period of
use, considering its rights within the defined
scope of the contract; and

o the Group has the right to direct the use
of the identified asset throughout the
period of use. The Group assess whether
it has the right to direct "how and for what
purpose’ the asset is used throughout the
period of use.
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2.

69

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.10 Leases (Continued)

Definition of a lease and the Group as a lessee
(Continued)

Measurement and recognition of leases as a
lessee

At lease commencement date, the Group
recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease
liability on the consolidated statement of financial
position. The right-of-use asset is measured at
cost, which is made up of the initial measurement
of the lease liability, any initial direct costs
incurred by the Group, an estimate of any costs to
dismantle and remove the underlying asset at the
end of the lease, and any lease payments made in
advance of the lease commencement date (net of
any lease incentives received).

The Group depreciates the right-of-use assets on a
straight-line basis from the lease commencement
date to the earlier of the end of the useful life of
the right-of-use asset or the end of the lease term
unless the Group is reasonably certain to obtain
ownership at the end of the lease term. The
Group also assesses the right-of-use assets for
impairment when such indicator exists.

At the commencement date, the Group measures
the lease liability at the present value of the lease
payments unpaid at that date, discounted using
the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that
rate cannot be readily determined, the Group's
incremental borrowing rate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RAR I

for the year ended 31 December 2022 2 —FE - —F+ - A=+—HIFFZF

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.10 Leases (Continued)

Definition of a lease and the Group as a lessee
(Continued)

Measurement and recognition of leases as a
lessee (Continued)

Lease payments included in the measurement of
the lease liability are made up of fixed payments
(including in-substance fixed payments) less any
lease incentives receivable, variable payments
based on an index or rate, and amounts expected
to be payable under a residual value guarantee.
The lease payments also include the exercise
price of a purchase option reasonably certain to be
exercised by the Group and payment of penalties
for terminating a lease, if the lease term reflects
the Group exercising the option to terminate.

Subsequent to initial measurement, the liability
will be reduced for lease payments made and
increased for interest cost on the lease liability.
It is remeasured to reflect any reassessment or
lease modification, or if there are changes in in-
substance fixed payments. The variable lease
payments that do not depend on an index or a
rate are recognised as expense in the period on
which the event or condition that triggers the
payment occurs.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities whenever:

o there are changes in lease term or in the
assessment of exercise of a purchase
option, in which case the related lease
liability is remeasured by discounting the
revised lease payments using a revised
discount rate at the date of reassessment.

o the lease payments changes due to
changes in market rental rates following
a market rent review, in which cases the
related lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments
using the initial discount rate.
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2.

71

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.10 Leases (Continued)

Definition of a lease and the Group as a lessee
(Continued)

Measurement and recognition of leases as a
lessee (Continued)

For lease modification that is not accounted for as
a separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease
liability based on the lease term of the modified
lease by discounting the revised lease payments
using a revised discount rate at the effective date
of modification. The only exception is any rent
concessions which arose as a direct consequence
of the COVID-19 pandemic and which satisfied
the conditions set out in paragraph 46B of HKFRS
16 “Leases”. In such cases, the Group took
advantage of the practical expedient set out in
paragraph 46A of HKFRS 16 and recognised the
change in consideration as if it were not a lease
modification.

When the lease is remeasured, the corresponding
adjustment is reflected in the right-of-use asset, or
profit and loss if the right-of-use asset is already
reduced to zero.

The Group has elected to account for short-term
leases using the practical expedients. Instead of
recognising a right-of-use asset and lease liability,
the payments in relation to these leases are
recognised as an expense in profit or loss on a
straight-line basis over the lease term. Short-term
leases are leases with a lease term of 12 month
or less.
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for the year ended 31 December 2022 2 —FE - —F+ - A=+—HIFFZF

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2. FESTHE#MER)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continved

2.10 Leases (Continued) 210 #HE#E)
Definition of a lease and the Group as a lessee HEZFHERANEFEREHEA
(Continued) (&)
Measurement and recognition of leases as a EAATNTERERHE (&)
lessee (Continued)
Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted for SRR SR S IREF B
under HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value. HEEB|FIHE AR  WHHFIEA
Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition REEFE - VITERBHZAAE
are considered as additional lease payments and BEAERWR AEIINEENT - I
included in the cost of right-of-use assets. SAFEREEEZKANA o

2.11 Provisions 211 #BE
Provisions are recognised when the Group has EAEE BRI RBERE 2B
a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a BETCEESMERE) - WATBEZAR
result of a past event, and it is probable that an EREEMNZNBITER  MEES
outflow of economic benefits will be required to FERE R AT SE(hEt - BIURERREE -
settle the obligation and a reliable estimate of the EEERESEA  BIBRERESE
amount of the obligation can be made. Where TEEZHZ2RAETER -
the time value of money is material, provisions
are stated at the present value of the expenditure
expected to settle the obligation.
All provisions are reviewed at each reporting date FTEBREHNS2H B - T
and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. TR A RBRIBRE Y SE®HET -

2.12 Share capital 212 R
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. TBER I B AEER - IRAIZD %
Share capital is recognised at the amount of TR EBELEER - 2RI%H
consideration of shares issued, after deducting K B2 3 1T A% #E BE RO L (0] 2 B AR AR
any transaction costs associated with the issuing (MBEMRBEREHRER) A
of shares (net of any related income tax benefit) AN BAERRFEEEGEZE
to the extent they are incremental costs directly R R o

attributable to the equity transaction.
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2.

73

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cContinued)

2.13 Revenue recognition

To determine whether to recognise revenue, the
Group follows a b-step process:

1. |dentifying the contract with a customer

2. Identifying the performance obligations

3. Determining the transaction price

4. Allocating the transaction price to the

performance obligations

5y Recognising revenue when/as performance
obligation(s) are satisfied

In all cases, the total transaction price for a contract
is allocated amongst the various performance
obligations based on their relative stand-alone
selling prices. The transaction price for a contract
excludes any amounts collected on behalf of third
parties.

Revenue is recognised either at a point in time
or over time, when (or as) the Group satisfies
performance obligations by transferring the
promised goods or services to its customers.

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other
income recognition policies are as follows:

Jewellery Products

(a) Revenue from the sales of gold and jewellery
products for a fixed fee is recognised when
or as the Group transfers control of the
assets to the customer.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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for the year ended 31 December 2022 2 —FE - —F+ - A=+—HIFFZF

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.13 Revenue recognition (Continued)

IT Products and Services

(a)

Enterprise software products

Revenue from the development of
customised software is recognised over
time as the Group's performance creates
and enhances an asset that the customer
controls. The progress towards complete
satisfaction of a performance obligation
is measured based on output method,
which is to recognise revenue on the basis
of direct measurements of the value of
the services transferred to the customer
to date relative to the services promised
under the contract, that best depict the
Group's performance in transferring control
of goods or services.

When the outcome of the contract cannot
be reasonably measured, revenue is
recognised only to the extent of contract
costs incurred that are expected to be
recovered.

If at any time the costs to complete the
contract are estimated to exceed the
remaining amount of the consideration under
the contract, a provision is recognised in
accordance with HKAS 37.

Warranties associated with enterprise
software products cannot be purchased
separately and are served as an assurance
that the products sold comply with agreed-
upon specifications (i.e. assurance-
type warranties). Accordingly, the Group
accounts for warranties in accordance with
HKAS 37 "Provisions, Contingent Liabilities
and Contingent Assets”.

L3

=111 4

BRI E (&)

2.13 WARBR (&)

BRI E dn R IR

(a)

P FEE A Em

GEEHEE:E NS
BR ERAKENED
BlERIBBATFEFNE
EoTEREKRBHEMEN
EETRBHOAGE - B
BEEFELESEEETE
FHRGER - HHEHOT
AR TE A AR 75 (B (E R R UK
A BB ERERRALE
BN S an 3 AR 542 il
FTEEELER o

EANNBRELGIEE
B EIREHA FRESHE
E BHRIRATERBIA ©

fisd PAE AR B I (A BT SE AR B 40
RABBENRGRES
B ARBEEEEERSE
B7IRMER L

BRI EmBREOER
TREBBE  EREY
P& E MmN & e RS (A
REBLER) NRE
- AEBREFEGE
RISE375RI B - ARAE
REREE IHERARK

TR R HEEBERERAT 74



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e SRR

for the year ended 31 December 2022 2 —FE - —F+ - A=+—HIFFZ

2.

75

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.13 Revenue recognition (Continued)

IT Products and Services (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Enterprise software products (Continued)

Maintenance service income is recognised
on a straight-line basis over the terms of
the relevant maintenance service contracts.

Professional services

Professional services income are recognised
in the period when the services are
provided.

Others

(a)

Consultancy and management fee income
in respect of technical support, consultancy
services and management services are
recognised in the period when services are
rendered.

Revenue from sales of smart rehabilitation
products for a fixed fee is recognised when
or as the Group transfers control of the
assets to the customer.

Interest income is recognised on a time
proportion basis using the effective interest
method. For financial assets measured at
amortised cost that are not credit-impaired,
the effective interest rate is applied to the
gross carrying amount of the asset.
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for the year ended 31 December 2022 2 —FE - —F+ - A=+—HIFFZF

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2. FESTHE#MER)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.14 Government grants 2.14 BUF#BY
Grants from the government are recognised BRE BN A IE MR B AT WEREK
at their fair value where there is a reasonable A TS ERFE PTA M A IE
assurance that the grant will be received and the T - NEEBIEA R BERERK
Group will comply with all attached conditions. B - BS@BIERELEALR @ I
Government grants are deferred and recognised in B E KA A TR BREER
profit or loss over the period necessary to match AR
them with the costs that the grants are intended
to compensate.
Government grants relating to income is presented BN EE R BN HP NGRS ER
in gross under “Other income” in the consolidated FEMmE2EWRERAEEZYA
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive [Emfzs] o
income.

2.15 Impairment of non-financial assets 215 FEemMEERE
The following assets are subject to impairment THEEBETRERR
testing:
o Property, plant and equipment; o ME - BB MR
. Right-of-use assets; and . EREEE &

. The Company's interests in subsidiaries. . RATRHBAT 2R o
The assets are tested for impairment whenever BENBURBNERWE ERE
there are indications that the asset’'s carrying BT RUE IR -

amount may not be recoverable.

An impairment loss is recognised as an expense WEEEDIZEERTEBEEA
immediately for the amount by which the asset’s WEeHEH s Z5H  RERRH
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. Y oo AEEEARMT R Z AR
Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value, BERLEEXRALBFREERSE
reflecting market conditions less costs of disposal, HE o T EEREERE - EaRK
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the BeneXARAITERTREH
estimated future cash flows are discounted to IRE - RRIRE IS §EE
their present value using a pre-tax discount rate rEBEERFERMR 2 -

that reflects current market assessments of the
time value of money and the risks specific to the
asset.
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77

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.15

Impairment of non-financial assets
(Continued)

For the purposes of assessing impairment,
where an asset does not generate cash inflows
largely independent of those from other assets,
the recoverable amount is determined for the
smallest group of assets that generate cash
inflows independently (i.e. a cash-generating unit).
As a result, some assets are tested individually
for impairment and some are tested at cash-
generating unit level. Corporate assets are
allocated to individual cash-generating units, when
a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation
can be identified, or otherwise they are allocated
to the smallest group of cash-generating units for
which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis
can be identified.

Impairment losses recognised for cash-generating
units is charged pro rata to the assets in the cash-
generating unit, except that the carrying value of
an asset will not be reduced below its individual
fair value less cost of disposal, or value in use, if
determinable.

An impairment loss is reversed if there has
been a favourable change in the estimates used
to determine the asset's recoverable amount
and only to the extent that the asset’s carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined, net of depreciation
or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been
recognised.
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4

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2. FESTTHERHEE®)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.16 Employee benefits 216 EERF

Retirement benefits

Retirement benefits to employees are provided
through defined contribution plans.

The Group operates a defined contribution
retirement benefit plan under the Mandatory
Provident Fund (“MPF") Schemes Ordinance, for
all of its employees who are eligible to participate
in the MPF Scheme. Contributions are made
based on a percentage of the employees’ basic
salaries.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which
operate in the PRC, Taiwan and Malaysia are
required to participate in the central pension
scheme operated by the local municipal
government. These subsidiaries are required to
contribute certain percentage of their payroll costs
to the central pension scheme.

Contributions are recognised as an expense in
profit or loss as employees rendered services
during the year. The Group's obligations under
these plans are limited to the fixed percentage
contributions payable.

Short-term employee benefits

Employee entitlements to annual leave are
recognised when they accrue to employees. A
provision is made for the estimated liability for
annual leave as a result of services rendered by
employees up to the reporting date.

Non-accumulating compensated absences such as
sick leave and maternity leave are not recognised
until the time of leave.

BIKIEF

AEBBBEREFFERARERE
HIRKABR o

AEERRBRFIEATES(®RE
& EEIGRE - BEMARERS
EogfR & At 8 M B B R ILTEBEN
ZENRBHETE - HARVIEREEE
A cBOLAE -

AEERNE - AEREREDE
BrHBATMTREESEEA
Bt MR BB R R R E
8l - REHBLAEET RS
FES LU RBIKSH B -

REEEFREHERBEE - 155
IR SR - ARERERL
FrrEICETERRENZEER
DHLAER

SEHIE AIET)
ERZEBRNEREETAER
R UEHEEREZEABEE
AR R TS T B A ISR B
mitkstie -

TEERBEzZHEHR(MBEBRRE
fR) - RIRERES T AT RERR o
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78

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.17 Accounting for income taxes

Income tax comprises current tax and deferred
tax.

Current income tax assets and/or liabilities
comprise those obligations to, or claims from,
fiscal authorities relating to the current or prior
reporting period, that are unpaid at the reporting
date. They are calculated according to the tax
rates and tax laws applicable to the fiscal periods
to which they relate, based on the taxable profit
for the year. All changes to current tax assets or
liabilities are recognised as a component of tax
expense in profit or loss.

Deferred tax is calculated using the liability
method on temporary differences at the end
of the reporting period between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial
statements and their respective tax bases.
Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised
for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax
assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, tax losses available to be carried
forward as well as other unused tax credits, to
the extent that it is probable that taxable profit,
including existing taxable temporary differences,
will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences, unused tax losses and
unused tax credits can be utilised.

Yu Tak International Holdings Limited ANNUAL REPORT 2022

2.

FTESTHRBE®)

217 FRBHRZ B HE

PRSI B4R BN AR A SR IERL IR -

AEHMEHEER HEBBER
g T2 RPN (AR 2HE B
AX) - ARBERFRHRE
ERRERBERZRE - TIRE
FARRRB RN - A BV RHE
ZBERRERRBEGETE - B
MREERBBEZAAZEHHIIA
BRMHIAR

ELERANERERMREERE
BERFBHRRZEABEEESEZ
MENERFZHUBEETE - &
EMIARE—RITEERE &
EZRHEAAR BELEHRBREET
SRR EREZE « Al EEN
TE 5 18 DA I H R 38 PR A 7 4 R
R MELARTRE R MR BUE R (2
EIREERVEREZR ) AT AR H
MERZR  RKERBBEBEBRK
BERRBEREHEZBERARR -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RAR I

for the year ended 31 December 2022 2 —FE - —F+ - A=+—HIFFZF

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.17 Accounting for income taxes (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from
goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than
in a business combination) of assets and liabilities
in a transaction that affects neither taxable nor
accounting profit or loss.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences arising on investments in
subsidiaries, except where the Group is able to
control the reversal of the temporary differences
and it is probable that the temporary differences
will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax is calculated, without discounting,
at tax rates that are expected to apply in the
period the liability is settled or the asset realised,
provided they are enacted or substantively
enacted at the reporting date.

Changes in deferred tax assets or liabilities
are recognised in profit or loss, or in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity if they
relate to items that are charged or credited to
other comprehensive income or directly to equity.

When different tax rates apply to different levels
of taxable income, deferred tax assets and
liabilities are measured using the average tax rates
that are expected to apply to the taxable income
of the periods in which the temporary differences
are expected to reverse.
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81

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.17 Accounting for income taxes (Continued)

The determination of the average tax rates
requires an estimation of (i) when the existing
temporary differences will reverse and (ii) the
amount of future taxable profit in those years. The
estimate of future taxable profit includes:

- income or loss excluding reversals of
temporary differences; and

- reversals of existing temporary differences.

Current tax assets and current tax liabilities are
presented in net if, and only if:

(a) the Group has the legally enforceable right
to set off the recognised amounts; and

(b) intends either to settle on a net basis, or
to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2. FESTTHERHEE®)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.17 Accounting for income taxes (Continued) 217 FiSBizgstAEE)

The Group presents deferred tax assets and AREBETEUTBER TN S FEE

deferred tax liabilities in net if, and only if: 2y EERBEENELEHIERG:

(a)  the entity has a legally enforceable right to (a) ZERAGOEA BRI ITRER
set off current tax assets against current LA BV AR % T8 & /22 B3 R HA Y
tax liabilities; and HAREHHE &

(b)  the deferred tax assets and the deferred (b) EEFHIEEEMRELEHRIES
tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied BHERE—RREERATE
by the same taxation authority on either: fA—IBER 2 ISR ER :
(i) the same taxable entity; or (i) F—EREERS : =X
(i) different taxable entities which (i) BERSARKREM

intend either to settle current tax (MEAEE BHME
liabilities and assets on a net basis, N5 455 sk U B K &8
or to realise the assets and settle HIELEFIEE Es &
the liabilities simultaneously, in each E)NFHEAEAELEH
future period in which significant ANHATRIE B (EEREE
amounts of deferred tax liabilities or KRR B E N
assets are expected to be settled or BEENTRERE
recovered. T
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83

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.18 Segment reporting

The Group identifies operating segments and
prepares segment information based on the
regular internal financial information reported
to the executive directors for their decisions
about resources allocation to the Group's
business components and for their review of the
performance of those components. The business
components in the internal financial information
reported to the executive directors are determined
following the Group’s major product and service
lines.

The Group has identified the following reportable
segments:

o Jewellery Products: design and sales of
gold and jewellery products

o IT Products and Services: provision of
information technology and professional
services and sales of products including
enterprise software products

o Others: design, production and sales of
smart rehabilitation products

Each of these operating segments is managed
separately as each of the product and service lines
requires different resources as well as marketing
approaches. All inter-segment transfers are carried
out at arm’s length prices.

The measurement policies the Group uses
for reporting segment results under HKFRS 8
“Operating Segments” are the same as those
used in its consolidated financial statements
prepared under HKFRSs.

No asymmetrical allocations have been applied to
reportable segments.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2. FESTHE#MER)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.19 Related parties 219 RBAEER
For the purposes of these consolidated financial MASEAUBRRME © HFAE
statements, a party is considered to be related to ATRIER » AR AL B3R A B A
the Group if: SEEEH -
(a)  the party is a person or a close member of (a) WAFEUATER » AL

that person’s family and if that person: AL 2 EHRRENK S E

REE A R -

(i) has control or joint control over the (i) 7 e LR B AR S
Group; ;
(ii) has significant influence over the (ii) HAEBBEEAFE
Group; or VA=
(i) is a member of the key management iy AREENIANEBRE
personnel of the Group or of a ARAIETEBEEEX
parent of the Group. 8 o
(b) the party is an entity and if any of the (b) WWEE THEA &S - BN
following conditions applies: EREHEAE B AR
(i) the entity and the Group are (i) ZELEEAEFRBR
members of the same group. —SKEZKERTA] °
(i) one entity is an associate or joint (i) —ERRS BB
venture of the other entity (or B NARA B
an associate or joint venture of a (HEZ—EBRBAEKE
member of a group of which the RAIZEBEETKE
other entity is a member). RNAIZHERTHE
BE) o
(i) the entity and the Group are joint (i) ZEBEEHEAEERHA
ventures of the same third party. R—F=A2z2E20
% o
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85

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.19 Related parties (Continued)

(b)

the party is an entity and if any of the
following conditions applies: (Continued)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

one entity is a joint venture of a
third entity and the other entity is an
associate of the third entity.

the entity is a post-employment
benefit plan for the benefit of
employees of either the Group or an
entity related to the Group.

the entity is controlled or jointly
controlled by a person identified in (a).

a person identified in (a)(i) has
significant influence over the
entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity
(or of a parent of the entity).

the entity, or any member of a group
of which it is a part, provides key
management personnel services to
the Group or to the parent of the
Group.

Close members of the family of a person are
those family members who may be expected to
influence, or be influenced by, that person in their
dealings with the entity.
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3.

ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDED
HKFRSs

Amended HKFRSs that are effective for annual
periods beginning on 1 January 2022

In the current year, the Group has applied for the first
time the following amended HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA, which are relevant to the Group's operations
and effective for the Group’'s consolidated financial
statements for the annual period beginning on 1 January
2022:
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the
Conceptual Framework

Amendments to HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKAS 16

Amendments to HKAS 37

Amendments to HKFRSs

Accounting Guideline 5
(Revised)

Covid-19-Related Rent
Concessions beyond 30
June 2021

Property, Plant and
Equipment — Proceeds
before Intended Use

Onerous Contracts — Cost
of Fulfilling a Contract

Annual Improvements to
HKFRS Standards
2018-2020

Merger Accounting
for Common Control
Combination

The adoption of the amended HKFRSs had no material
impact on how the results and financial position of
the Group for the current and prior periods have been
prepared and presented.
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87

ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDED

HKFRSs (continued)

Issued but not yet effective HKFRSs

At the date of authorisation of these consolidated
financial statements, certain new and amended HKFRSs
have been published but are not yet effective, and have
not been adopted early by the Group.

HKFRS 17

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

Amendments to HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1
Amendments to HKAS 1
and HKFRS Practice

Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 8

Amendments to HKAS 12
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Insurance Contracts and
related amendments’

Sale or Contribution
of Assets between
an Investor and its
Associate or Joint
Venture?

Lease Liability in a Sale
and Leaseback?

Classification of Liabilities
as Current or Non-
current and related
amendments to Hong
Kong Interpretation 52

Non-current Liabilities
with Covenants?

Disclosure of Accounting
Policies’

Definition of Accounting
Estimates’

Deferred Tax related to
Assets and Liabilities
arising from a Single
Transaction'
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3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDED 3. RA#FH RLIEFTEBIEIR

HKFRSs (Continued) HEA )
Issued but not yet effective HKFRSs (Continued) EEMEMKRERZEBRBRESE
Bl(#&)

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 1 RITZ=F—A— A2 EBRBZF
January 2023 EHIRAER

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 2 RIZT_NF—-—A—RA2BRBZF
January 2024 EHIRAER

3 Effective date not yet determined 3 EENE s e=E

The directors of the Company anticipate that all of RARIEFTER - BB HEMETAER

the pronouncements will be adopted in the Group's Ak &Mtz BEBAREc AEEE3

accounting policy for the first period beginning on or after R RER - TXEY BB AR

the effective date of the pronouncement. Information SESHBRBRNEZE I RGBS

on new and amended HKFRSs that are expected to BB WEENER - HMIE] REE

have impact on the Group's accounting policies is RIEAMBREEERTISHASE RS

provided below. Other new and amended HKFRSs are AU RERBRERTE -

not expected to have a material impact on the Group's
consolidated financial statements.
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89

ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDED 3.

HKFRSs (continued)

Issued but not yet effective HKFRSs (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice Statement
2 “Disclosure of Accounting Policies”

The amendments to HKAS 1 require entities to disclose
material accounting policy information instead of
significant accounting policies in its financial statements.
The amendments also provide some guidance on how
material policy information are being identified and
provide some examples of when accounting policy
information is likely to be material.

In March 2021, HKICPA issued HKFRS Practice
Statement 2 “Making Materiality Judgements” to provide
entities with non-mandatory guidance on how to make
materiality judgements when preparing their general
purpose financial statements in accordance with HKFRS.
HKFRS Practice Statement 2 was subsequently revised
to provide guidance and examples on how to apply the
concept of materiality to accounting policy disclosures.

The amendments to HKAS 1 are effective for annual
reporting period beginning on or after 1 January 2023 and
are applied prospectively. Earlier application is permitted.
Except for the disclosures of accounting policies in note
2 to consolidated financial statements may need to be
revised to cope with the above changes, the directors
expect that the amendments have no other material
impact on the consolidated financial statements.
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3.

ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDED 3.

HKFRSs (continued)

Issued but not yet effective HKFRSs (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 8 “Definition of Accounting
Estimates”

The amendments clarify how entities should distinguish
changes in accounting policies from changes in
accounting estimates by introducing a definition for
accounting estimates, which is now defined as “monetary
amounts in the financial statements that are subject to
measurement uncertainty”.

Besides, the amendments also clarify the relationship
between accounting policies and accounting estimates by
specifying that an entity develops an accounting estimate
to achieve the objective set out by an accounting
policy. Accounting estimates typically involve the use
of judgements or assumptions based on latest available
reliable information. A change in accounting estimate that
results from new information or new development is not
correction of an error. Therefore, the effects of a change
in an input or a measurement technique used to develop
an accounting estimate are changes in accounting
estimates if they do not result from the correction of
prior period errors. In addition, two illustrative examples
are added to illustrate how to apply the new definition of
accounting estimates.

The amendments are effective for annual reporting
period beginning on or after 1 January 2023 and are
applied prospectively. Earlier application is permitted. The
directors expect that the amendments have no material
impact on the consolidated financial statements.
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4.

Sl

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES 4.

AND JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and
are based on historical experience and other factors,
including expectations of future events that are believed
to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning
the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by
definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The
estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are
discussed below:

Impairment of property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets

If circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of a
long-lived asset may not be recoverable, the asset may
be considered “impaired” and an impairment loss may
be recognised in accordance with HKAS 36 “Impairment
of Assets”.

These assets are tested for impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that their
carrying amounts may not be recoverable. When such a
decline has occurred, the carrying amount is reduced to
the recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the
higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and its value
in use.

In determining the value in use, the expected cash flows
generated by the assets are discounted to their present
value, which requires significant estimation.

As at 31 December 2022, the carrying amount of
property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets
were HK$1,123,000 (2021: HK$1,323,000) (note 14) and
HK$2,249,000 (2021: HK$836,000) (note 15) respectively.
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4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES 4.

AND JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

Estimation of fair value of financial instruments

not traded in an active market

As at 31 December 2022, financial instruments that are
not traded in an active market including unlisted equity
investments and unlisted private equity fund were carried
at fair value of HK$24,487,000 (2021: HK$23,776,000)
and HK$391,000 (2021: HK$447,000) respectively. The
fair values are determined by using valuation techniques,
details of which are set out in note 35.6. This involves
developing estimates and assumptions consistent with
how market participants would price the instrument. The
Group bases its assumptions on observable data as far
as possible but this is not always available. In that case
the Group uses the best information available. Estimated
fair values may vary from the actual prices that would be
achieved in an arm’s length transaction at the reporting
date.

Estimation of impairment of trade receivables,
other receivables and deposits and contract
assets within the scope of ECL

The Group makes allowances on items subjects to
ECL (including trade receivables, other receivables and
deposits and contract assets) based on assumptions
about risk of default and expected loss rates. The
Group uses judgement in making these assumptions
and selecting the inputs to the impairment calculation,
based on the Group’'s past history, existing market
conditions as well as forward looking estimates at the
end of each reporting period as set out in note 2.6. As
at 31 December 2022, the carrying amounts of trade
receivables, other receivables and deposits, and contract
assets amounted to HK$1,525,000 (2021: HK$9,348,000)
(note 20), HK$6,475,000 (2021: HK$4,773,000) (note
21) and HK$2,228,000 (2021: HK$2,743,000) (note 19)
respectively.
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4.

93

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES 4.

AND JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

Estimation of impairment of trade receivables,
other receivables and deposits and contract
assets within the scope of ECL (Continued)

When the actual future cash flows are different from
expected, such difference will impact the carrying
amount of trade receivables and other items within the
scope of ECL under HKFRS 9 and credit losses in the
periods in which such estimate has been changed.

Net realisable value of inventories

Net realisable value of inventories of gold and jewellery
products is the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business, less selling expenses. These
estimates are based on the current market condition
and the historical experience of selling products of
similar nature. It could change significantly as a result
of changes in customer taste and competitor actions in
response to severe industry cycle.

Management reassesses these estimates at the end
of each reporting period. As at 31 December 2022, the
carrying amount of inventories was HK$43,937,000 (2021:
HK$46,858,000) (note 18).

Yu Tak International Holdings Limited ANNUAL REPORT 2022

EES AT RAE &)

FHFEFEREEN 2 BRE SRR -
HttEWRERREURENEEZ
B T ()

HERRKRSREARNNTAY - ARAE
EBFERBEEYBREEREIRER
HEERREENZBRKE SRR EM
HEMEHERGHELEEHHM2ER
B8 -

FEZUREFE

BEeMURBEMCFEZAERFELH
FEBRBETOGEFEEREER - %
FRhFTIRBRITMAALHERRMEE
EmZELERMEL  YEREFEH
B RBEFE T RERIRTTRBEMMR
RziT8MHBRERES -

EEBENESERBREGZSMHT - B
—E--H+-RA=+—H8 TFEZE
M {8 543,937,000 (=T = —F:
46,858,000/ 70 ) (Mi3E18) °



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR M EE

for the year ended 31 December 2022 {2 —F — —F+ - H=+—

5.

REVENUE

The Group's principal activities are disclosed in note 1
to these consolidated financial statements. The Group’s
revenue recognised during the year is as follows:

HILFE
5. WA

AEBEZFEXBEZSHRAVHEREW
AT c ARBEFRADHERAIWALT :

2022 2021

—E- —E-—F

HK$000 HK$'000

F#&T T

Sales of gold and jewellery products BE&RIKEEMREE 11,181 23,503
Sales of enterprise software products 1380 RIHE 13,388 13,340
Provision of professional services R EZ R 2,775 4,518
Others Hib 1,441 -
28,785 41,361
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5.

95

REVENUE (Continued) 5. WAw#E)
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with EEMBHREELFEISFEEHEARB
customers within the scope of HKFRS 15 BEFEEHZBADE
The Group derives revenue from the transfer of NEFEUATE FEE D RRE S RHE T
goods and services over time and at a point in time SRR MIRR R ERE B MRS ELS
in the following major product and services lines and WA -
geographical market:
Sales of
Sales of gold enterprise  Provision of
and jewellery software  professional
products products services Others Total
EeRH%E tEERS
Em#E ERHE RUSERK Hity ok
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TExT TR TR TET TExT
2022 —E-CE
Timing of revenue BATERERE
recognition
At a point in time TR, 11,181 = - 1,441 12,622
Over time 1R - 13,388 2,775 - 16,163
11,181 13,388 2,775 1,441 28,785
Geographical markets WEMS
Hong Kong B - 6,453 - = 6,453
PRC and Taiwan HERAE 11,181 2,171 2,775 1,441 17,568
Southeast Asia REh - 4,764 - - 4,764
11,181 13,388 2,775 1,441 28,785
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5.

REVENUE (continued) 5. WA@®
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts BERAMKEREEAE1SHEBEANRE
with customers within the scope of HKFRS 15 BEEEHAZWADEE)
(Continued)
Sales of
Sales of gold enterprise Provision of
and jewellery software professional
products products services Others Total
HERHE hERMY
EmiEs EmEE RUESERS Hit s
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THT T THT THT
2021 —E-—F
Timing of revenue BARRERE
recognition
At a point in time RS R 2, 23,503 - - - 23,503
Over time R - 13,340 4518 - 17,858
23,503 13,340 4,518 - 41,361
Geographical markets WEmS
Hong Kong ) - 7,078 - 7,078
PRC and Taiwan R LA E 23,503 3,965 4,517 - 31,985
Southeast Asia |- et - 2,297 1 - 2,298
23,503 13,340 4,518 - 41,361
The geographical location of customers is based on the BEFAEME 2 5 EE BRI A RS
location at which the services were provided or the SEXEEER ZHBME o
goods were delivered.
SEGMENT INFORMATION 6. THER

The executive directors of the Company, being the chief
operating decision maker, have identified the following
products and service lines as operating segments.
Details of which are further described in note 2.18.

These operating segments are monitored and strategic
decisions are made on the basis of adjusted segment
operating results.

ARBMTEF (X ELERRE)CH
B TOIE @ MRS ERIEREE DR -
BRFIFE — PRl M5E2.18

AZEREN AR EE - BBRRE DRI
R DR EREED -
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6.

7/

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

6. oEHEBR#®

Jewellery IT Products
Products and Services Others Total
BEER ERREHB Hith k)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET TET TET THET

2022 —E-_C&
Revenue - From external WA - KB RF

customers 11,181 16,163 1,441 28,785
Reportable segment revenue 2R BYA 11,181 16,163 1,441 28,785
Reportable segment loss before HIERFTEH A7 2| D BEE

income tax (4,494) (1,526) (1,104) (7,124)
Bank interest income BATH B 8 8 2 18
Depreciation nE (1,061) (225) (170) (1,456)
ECL allowance on trade B SRR - HiEEGIER

receivables, other receivables BeURANBEZBHRES

and deposits, and contract EERE - MREE

assets, net of reversal 94 (14) (82) (2)
Net loss on disposal/written off of H& /it  BERREZ

property, plant and equipment FEE (44) (27) - (71)
Finance costs THER (17) (10) (18) (45)
Reversal of write-down of W FER D 2] 25 FEFE

inventories to net realisable

value, net 1,204 - - 1,204
Reportable segment assets 2R BEE 271,946 66,139 9,848 347,933
Additions to non-current segment  ERRE L2 IERBEE

assets (other than financial (BT EKIN)

instruments) during the year - 45 3,060 3,105
Reportable segment liabilities T 2HHBEE 10,660 232,342 2,854 245,856
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. DIHEBR#E)
Jewellery IT Products
Products  and Services Others Total
BARHT
HEEm EakRE Hth ek
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAET FAT FAT
2021 —E-—F
Revenue - From external WA —RB IR
customers 23,503 17,858 - 41,361
Reportable segment revenue 2R BYA 23,503 17,858 - 41,361

Reportable segment (loss)/profit HIERFTEH A1 282 26

before income tax (&18), /=7 (9,560) 740 = (8,820)
Bank interest income RITH M 9 8 = 17
Depreciation nE (1,110) (305) = (1,415)
ECL allowance on trade BB SRR - HiEEGIER

receivables, other receivables BEURAENEE EHEER

and deposits, and contract BEEE

assets (109) (94) - (203)
Net loss on disposal/written off of & /MiENE  BEMREZ

property, plant and equipment FEE - (218) = (218)
Finance costs HBER (31) (22) = (63)
Write-down of inventories to net  MUlFEE A £B FEFE

realisable value, net (4,986) = = (4,986)
Reportable segment assets 2RI BEE 288,319 67,119 = 355,438
Additions to non-current segment  ERRE DI IETRBEE

assets (other than financial (£RITEBIN)

instruments) during the year 12 68 = 80
Reportable segment liabilites T 2HFBAE 12,102 234,817 = 246,919
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6.

99

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

The totals presented for the Group’s reportable segments
reconcile to the Group's key financial figures as presented

6.

DEER (&)

AEBZAZ2RAO B2 2 BRELZS M
BRRRAEIN 2 A EEERHMBHIEL

in the consolidated statement of financial position are as HERZNT -
follows:
2022 2021
—E-= T
HK$'000 HK$'000
& T T
Reportable segment assets Al 2RO EBEE 347,933 355,438
Eliminated upon consolidation tRE NBRRF £ 85 (224,954) (224,954)
Group assets AEBZEE 122,979 130,484
Reportable segment liabilities AI2MmoMasE 245,856 246,919
Eliminated upon consolidation 4RA A BREE Y 8 (224,954) (224,954)
Group liabilities rEEZEE 20,902 21,965
The Group’s non-current assets (other than financial REBZIERBEE(SBMITARIN IR
instruments) are divided into the following geographical TR E D
areas:
2022 2021
—EC-_F —E-—F
HK$°000 HK$'000
T T FETT
Hong Kong i 315 1,070
PRC and Taiwan R KA 3,006 989
Southeast Asia REgde 51 100
3,372 2,159

The geographical location of the non-current assets is
based on the physical location of the assets.
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6.

Revenue from customers which individually contributed
over 10% of the Group's revenue during the years ended

DEER (&)

BEREAEEBE T - —FR_F—
FT-A=+T—HLEFEEA10%A LD

31 December 2022 and 2021 is as follows: KEREHWALT :
2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—fF
HK$°000 HK$'000
F#&T T
Customer A’ ZEA 6,399 9,162
Customer B’ ZFEB! 3,200 6,020
Customer C' BHC N/A* 738 F * 5,286
Customer D2 BFED? 4,231 N/A* N3 3 *
Revenue from Jewellery Products segment. 1 REKBEERDBIWA ©
2 Revenue from IT Products and Services segment. 2 RE BB EMRRE D EBZMA -

EREKRALEREEAREERHEEZE 2=
ZERZT_—FF+ZA=+—HIEF
EURAT0%IA L ©

The corresponding revenue did not individually contribute
over 10% of the Group's revenue during the years
ended 31 December 2022 or 2021.

7. OTHER INCOME 7. Hfttlzm
2022 2021
—E-C—fF —E-—F
HK$000 HK$'000
TFHET FHEIT
Bank interest income RITH B 18 17
Consultancy and management fee M R BB
income 607 376
Foreign exchange gain, net b e 55 = 1,247
Gain on early termination of leases, RFKILTHE 7 W E5E
net 16 S
Government subsidies (note) AT 2 EL (FEE) 290 -
Others HAh, 792 772
1,723 2,412
Note: Mz -

For the year ended 31 December 2022, included in the

HE_Z-_—_F#+-_A=+—HLEE ' BF

fBRE290,0008 TH BB RAM B RSB EMES
BRRBTERNTEME - MEBBZSH
BERARIER IR EIR -

government subsidies of HK$290,000 was the wage subsidies
received from the Hong Kong SAR Government as a result of
the outbreak of COVID-19. There were no unfulfilled conditions
or contingencies relating to these subsidies.
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101

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSE 8. EEFEAMZ(EBIEEEEHM)
(INCLUDING DIRECTORS’
EMOLUMENTS)
2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
F# T T
Wages, salaries and other benefits TE  HehHEAMER 10,880 13,641
Pension costs — defined contribution R{K& kA — FEEMET 2]
plans 1,080 1,192
11,960 14,833
At 31 December 2022, the Group had no forfeited R-ZZBE-_—F+-A=+—0 ' "&EEYL
contributions available to reduce its contributions to the BB R MR SR A AR R 18 FE AR K
pension schemes in future years (2021: HK$nil). FERR(ZE—F : THIL) °
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9.

S e =

LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX 9. HIKRFEBAIEE
Loss before income tax is arrived at after charging/ MR ATEERE R, (Gt A):
(crediting):
2022 2021
—EC- —E_—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T
Depreciation: e
— owned assets —HBEEE 878 908
- right-of-use assets —f[FREEE 578 507
Total depreciation TERR 1,456 1,415
Other expenses: HEFX
Auditor’s remuneration Z BN S — ZBRS
— audit services 900 860
Net loss on disposal/written off of HEWEWE  BEREEZF
property, plant and equipment E518 71 218
Lease charges in respect of short REAENHEER
term leases 292 195
Legal and professional fees ERERBEER 1,513 1,525
Foreign exchange losses, net b 5 B 1E 55 2,556 =
Other expenses EmAY 4,928 3,203
Total other expenses e g E 10,260 6,001
Cost of inventories recognised as an MR ARSI FEKRAR - 81
expense, including: 7,864 22,534
— (Reversal of write-down)/Write- — (OB E), MR TFE =
down of inventories to net R EFRE
realisable value, net (1,204) 4,986
Cost of services rendered (note) RERHAA (M) 13,295 16,439
ECL allowance on trade receivables, J[EWE ZEER - E b fEU FRIE IR
other receivables and deposits, and &N ALHEEZFEHREEEIS
contract assets, net of reversal BiE - kEE 2 203
Foreign exchange gains, net P& 5 U e F /8 - (1,247)

Note:

Cost of services rendered included staff costs of HK$7,250,000
(2021: HK$8,885,000), which amount is also included in

employee benefits expense (note 8).

BT -

BEA R (HfREs) °

R RIS A B 8 Tk 47,250,000 7T( =
T~ —14 8,885,000 7C) k=BT AR
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11.

10. FINANCE COSTS B i &

2022 2021
B T
HK$'000 HK$'000
T T T
Finance charges on lease liabilities HEBGE MBS 45 53

INCOME TAX EXPENSE 1. FIEHMAxX
2022 2021
—EB-CF T —F
HK$°000 HK$'000
THT FHE T

Current tax — Overseas BNERFEIE — /840

Current year KEE 171 88
Total income tax expense FriS i S 4258 171 88

103

Hong Kong Profits Tax has not been provided as the
Group had no assessable profits subject to Hong Kong
Profits Tax for the years ended 31 December 2022 and
2021.

For the subsidiaries of the Group in the PRC qualified for
“Announcement on Further Implementing the Preferential
Income Tax Policies for Micro and Small Enterprises
(Announcement No. 12 [2021])" and “"Announcement
on Further Implementing the Preferential Income Tax
Policies for Micro and Small Enterprises (Announcement
No. 13 [2022])", for the portion of annual taxable profits
less than RMB1 million, 12.5% of such amount will
be taxed at 20% and profits within the range of RMB1
million to RMB3 million, 25% of such amount will be
taxed at 20%. The other subsidiaries in the PRC are
subject to PRC Enterprise Income Tax at a rate of 25%
for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.

Taxation on overseas profits has been calculated on the
estimated assessable profits for the year at the rates of
taxation prevailing in the countries in which the Group
operates.
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11.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued) 11. Fi88iE%#)
Reconciliation between tax expense and accounting loss REANERRHIER Y L estEiEETY
at applicable tax rates: BE -
2022 2021
—E-—F T —F
HK$'000 HK$'000
T T
Loss before income tax RSB AT E 1B (7,124) (8,820)
Tax on loss before income tax, B A BRI R AERBERAR
calculated at the rates applicable AR EIE R E 2
to profits or losses in the tax SRR R 2 BE
jurisdiction concerned (1,746) (1,696)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses 7~a] HI3 B s 2 T B 2 & 2,161 2,593
Tax effect of non-taxable revenue BERBIMA ZFRIE & (44) (406)
Tax effect of temporary differences  RERERF =R HIETE
not recognised 5 92
Tax effect of tax losses not RERHIEBE RHIBEFE
recognised 521 652
Utilisation of tax losses previously not {# B 5t Bl K FE R+ IE 5 18
recognised (726) (1,147)
Income tax expense FriSiim s 171 88
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11.

12.

105

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

At 31 December 2022, the Group had unrecognised
tax losses of approximately HK$64,395,000 (2021:
HK$65,048,000) to carry forward against future
taxable income. These tax losses do not expire under

11.

FREHR ()

RZZF-_=—F+=—A=+—8 $Elﬁ
*ﬁw@%ﬁlﬁgﬁg 2764 395, 000/%7E(— =
—4F : 65,048,000/8 7T ) A8 - FA{EHE IR
RIEFRFUA ot ERTAEIBRIBIREE

current legislation except tax losses of approximately eIl eEm 0 ERIBEEEZ20,287,000
HK$20,287,000 (2021: HK$20,743,000) will be expired as BIL(ZZF = —4F : 20,743,000 70) 57
follows: T ERRE fEim
2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET T
Year of expiry: [EWEE
2022 —=E- - 6,603
2023 —EF-= 4,152 5,089
2024 —E U 8,012 4,047
2025 —E-RF 3,239 3,494
2026 _?_/\E 1,190 1,510
2027 T LF 3,694
20,287 20,743
LOSS PER SHARE 12. BREE

The calculation of basic loss per share is based on
the loss attributable to owners of the Company of
HK$6,915,000 (2021: HK$8,908,000) and the weighted
average number of ordinary shares of 1,947,690,000
(2021: 1,947,690,000) in issue during the year.

Diluted loss per share for the years ended 31 December
2022 and 2021 were the same as basic loss per share as
there is no dilutive potential ordinary share in existence
during the year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR M EE

for the year ended 31 December 2022 2 —FE - —F+ - A=+—HIFFZF

13. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS AND 13. EEFMREBESHFIMA L
FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS'’ 2 E A
EMOLUMENTS
13.1 Directors’ emoluments 13.1 EEHM
Directors’ emoluments, disclosed pursuant to EFZHFMIIREGEM EmRE - FEAQ
the GEM Listing Rules, section 383(1) of the AMEBEISINER AR (KEEENZZE
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of BOMEPIFE 2 HTET

the Companies (Disclosure of Information about
Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

Other emoluments

Hit# &
Contributions
to defined
Directors’  Salaries and  contribution
fees allowances plan Total
EEMR
EEHe FEREH SRR L]
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TERT TERT TEx
2022 —E-CEF
Executive directors: HTES:
Mr. Chong Yu Ping ARTEE - 350 16 366
Ms. Li Xia (note) FELL (M) - 724 125 849
Mr. Chen Yin BRE 4 - 239 11 250
Independent non-executive ~ BUFHTEE
directors:
Mr. Lam Tin Faat MRERE 180 - - 180
Ms. Na Xin BTzt 120 - - 120
Ms. Zhao Xiaxia HBEELL 120 - - 120
420 1,313 152 1,885
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for the year ended 31 December 2022 2 —FE - —F+ - A=+—HIFFZ

13. DIRECTORS’' EMOLUMENTS AND
FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS’
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

107

13.1 Directors’ emoluments (Continued)

13. EEFMREZREEHEMA L
ok 3 1)

13.1 EEFHFME)

Other emoluments

Hitfie
Contributions
to defined
Directors’ Salaries and contribution
fees allowances plan Total
ERER
0k e k2 TEIfR Fakd
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TET TAT TAT
2021 T
Executive directors: HITES !
Mr. Chong Yu Ping ERETEE = 678 18 696
Ms. Li Xia (note) FELT(fit) - 1,047 101 1,148
Mr. Chen Yin BREfE - 540 16 556
Independent non-executive B EHITES:
directors:
Mr. Lam Tin Faat WAL 180 - - 180
Ms. Na Xin il e 120 - - 120
Ms. Zhao Xiaxia BB 120 - - 120
420 2,265 135 2,820

Note:

Ms. Li Xia is also the Chief Executive Officer of the
Company and her emoluments disclosed above include
the services rendered by her as Chief Executive Officer.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR M EE

for the year ended 31 December 2022 B2 L - —F+—H=+—HIFFEZF

13. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS AND 13. EEFMREBESHFIMA L
FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS’ 25 M=)
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)
13.1 Directors’ emoluments (Continued) 13.1 EESHM(E)
No emoluments were paid by the Group to any B - ZE-_—FR-_T-_—F+=

directors as an inducement to join or upon joining
the Group or as compensation for loss of office
during the years ended 31 December 2022 and
2021.

There were no arrangements under which a director
waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during
the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.

13.2 Five highest paid individuals’ emoluments

The five individuals whose emoluments were the
highest in the Group for the year included three
(2021: three) directors whose emoluments are
reflected in the analysis presented above. The
aggregate emoluments of the remaining two (2021:

A=1T—HLFE  AKELER
EREENAFHFMERIMAREE
SEINAR KB R 2 B2R) e 1F R RE R
e -

HE_Z_—_Fr-_ZFT-_—F+—
A=1t—HBIFE tEEEHRE
SR B MEE RN T -

TEBRSHMA L 25

FR - AEEREESHFMALE
B=R(Z2_—F:=8)8% -
HEFME A LD RER - £/
BTIME(ZT_—F: MB)RD
FMALZFM@RNT

two) individuals during the year are as follows:

2022 2021
—E-_F B —F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FAETT
Salaries and allowances e KRR 1,330 1,328
Contributions to defined TE R KA B K
contribution plan 36 36
1,366 1,364
The emoluments fell within the following band: s E -
Number of individuals
ETAH
2022 2021
—E-—F T —F
Emolument band: HNESE -
Nil to HK$1,000,000 £ 21,000,000/ 7T 2 2
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e SRR

for the year ended 31 December 2022 2 —FE - —F+ - A=+—HIFFZ

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND 14. Y% - BERSZE

EQUIPMENT
Computer
Leasehold and office  Furniture and
improvements equipment fixtures  Motor vehicles Total
R
REMERE  BOEXE  GLRRE "E &n
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T THT T THET THT
At 1 January 2021 R=Z=-%-f-H
Cost KA 2,115 10,778 420 4,199 17,512
Accumulated depreciation ZiE (1,838) (10,588) (392) (2,310) (15,128)
Net book amount REFE 277 190 28 1,889 2,384
Year ended 31 December 2021 HZE-E--F+-A=t-H
LEE
Opening net book amount FREFE 277 190 28 1,889 2,384
Exchange differences EREH 4 4 1 4 13
Additions NE - 80 - - 80
Disposal/Written off e sk (141) (95) (10) = (246)
Depreciation e (76) (52) (2) (778) (908)
Closing net book amount EXREFE 64 127 17 1,115 1,323
At 31 December 2021 and RZBZ-5+ZR=t-HRK
1 January 2022 —2--%-8-H
Cost KR 1,650 9,369 416 4,213 15,648
Accumulated depreciation ZithE (1,586) 9,242) (399) (3,098) (14,325)
Net book amount EHFE 64 127 17 1,115 1,323
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for the year ended 31 December 2022 2 —FE - —F+ - A=+—HIFFZF

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND 14. V¥ - BERRE®)
EQUIPMENT (continued)
Computer
Leasehold and office  Furniture and Motor
improvements equipment fixtures vehicles Total
ElR
HEMERE WOERE GRREE AE fag
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
TR TiEn TR TR Ti#x
Year ended 31 December 2022 HZE-E-—£+=-f=t+-H
LEE
Opening net book amount ENREFE 64 127 17 1,115 1,323
Exchange differences ERES (4) (6) (1) (5) (16)
Additions NE 569 196 - - 765
Disposal/Written off HE /M (39) (16) (16) - (71)
Depreciation ik (49) (53) - (776) (878)
Closing net book amount EXRAFE 541 248 - 334 1,123
At 31 December 2022 R-B--E+-A=t-H
Cost AR 1,923 9,043 215 4173 15,354
Accumulated depreciation ZitiE (1,382) (8,795) (215) (3,839) (14,231)
Net book amount EHFE 541 248 - 334 1,123
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e ISR M EE

for the year ended 31 December 2022 &% —&F — —

15. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

Fr-A=1+—HIFE

15. EREEE

Land and
buildings
T REF
HK$'000
F &t
At 1 January 2021 R-ZB-—-%—-A—H
Cost [DEN 2,824
Accumulated depreciation REHE (1,498)
Net book amount REFE 1,326
Year ended 31 December 2021 BE-Z-_—F+-A=1+—HLEE
Opening net book amount FHEREFE 1,326
Exchange differences M ER 17
Depreciation e (5607)
Net book amount BREAHE 836
At 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022 R-ZE-—+-A=+—-HR
—®-—&—-A—§
Cost AR 1,642
Accumulated depreciation i (806)
Net book amount REFE 836
Year ended 31 December 2022 BE-Z-_—_F+-A=+—HLFE
Opening net book amount FHERMFE 836
Addition NE 2,340
Early termination of leases REEILHEE (207)
Exchange differences EH =5 (107)
Depreciation e (578)
Lease modification HEWR (35)
Net book amount REFE 2,249
At 31 December 2022 R-B--_§+=-A=+—H
Cost AR 2,940
Accumulated depreciation REtinE (691)
Net book amount REFE 2,249
The details in relation to these leases are set out in note BERZSHEZFHITHNME26 -

26.
111
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e B RAR I

for the year ended 31 December 2022 2 —FE - —F+ - A=+—HIFFZF

16.

INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries at 31 December
2022 and 2021 are as follows:

Name of company

LEER

Place/Country of
incorporation

BNV

Particulars of issued and paid

RZE_—FR
B TEZHEAQ

Percentage of ownership
interest held by the Company
ARAFEREREL 2B DL

16. RNHE LR 2ES

R =
AlZFENT

Principal activities

IEEH

Excel Consulting and Solutions
Sdn. Bhd.*

Excel Consulting and Solutions
Sdn. Bhd *

21 Limited*
21 Limited*

HR21 Limited*
HR21 Limited*

HERRFERAR
(Yu Tak Holdings (Shenzhen)
Co., Limited?)**

PRER(RIERA

MIEEHEAERZRERAA
(Excel Solution Technology
Limited®)**

RIFERET ERAS
HRAT

SEREE (R ERAR)
(Excel Software (Shenzhen)
Co., Limited®)**
SEGHE(RI)ERAF

SEAERR (M) ERAR
(Excel Global IT Services
{Hangzhou) Co., Limited®)**
(Note (al)

FEAERR (M) ERAT

HIERRERAERAR
(New River Information
Technology & Services Co.,
Limited®)*

HIERRERAFRAR

SEREE SRR
AR 27 (Dongguan Excel
International Finance and
Technology Incubation
Centre Company Limited®)**
SEREE SRR
BRAF

Malaysia

BREE

Hong Kong

Hong Kong

PRC

hE

PRC

hE

PRC

hE

PRC

hE

Taiwan

o>
JugtE

P

Place of operation  up capital/registered capital
R BRTRMRRE/EREAE
Malaysia 100,000 shares of Malaysian
Ringgit ("MYR") 1 each

ERED 100 000K S REESREEY
A iwd: i

Hong Kong HK$13,001,000
B 13,001,000%7
Hong Kong HKS2
B phivH
PRC HK$127,000,000
e 127,000,000%7
PRC Renminbi ("RMB") 6,000,000
i ARH(T AR 1)6,000,0007
PRC HK$20,000,000
HE 20,000,000
PRC US$150,000
HE 160,005
Taiwan New Taiwan Dollar ("NT$")
11,913,620

aE saB(Hak)nN360T
PRC RMB10,000,000
e ARH10,000,0007

100% (2021: 100%)

100%(=F=—%: 100%)

100% 12021 100%)

100%(=F=—% : 100%)

100% (2021: 100%)

100%(=F=—% : 100%)

100% (2021: 100%)

100%(=F=—% : 100%)

100% (2021: 100%)

100%(=F=—%: 100%)

100% (2021: 100%)

100%(=F=—%: 100%)

N/A (2021: 100%)

MER(ZEZ—%:100%)

100% (2021: 100%)

100%(=ZF=—%: 100%)

100% (2021: 100%)

100%(=Z=—% : 100%)

TECCFFR HEERERERAR

Development of computer software
and provision of sale and marketing
services

REERIN REEHERTAREERS

Application services provider

ERE R HER

Development of computer software and
provision of maintenance services

REERER kLR

Design and sales of gold and jewellery
products

K RpERERAEER

Development of computer software and
provision of maintenance services

RESEEA LR RERY

Development of computer software and
provision of maintenance services

RESEA LR RERY

Provision of professional services

RAEXRS

Provision of professional services

RAEZRS

Development of computer software and
provision of maintenance services

REERI LR
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16. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

16. RHIB AR 2= (&)

(Continued)
Place/Country of Particulars of issued and paid Percentage of ownership
Name of company incorporation Place of operation ~up capital/registered capital interest held by the Company  Principal activities
ARER AMAILE/BR  EENY BRRMRRE/EREARE ADAFEFAEEREZAMM  FEER
MIBEFEERAR PRC PRC RMB10,000,000 100% (2021: 100%)  Wholesaling and retailing of gold, platinum,
(Shenzhen Yu Tak Jewellery diamond, karat gold, jade and jewellery
Co., Ltd. &* products
AIBERERRAR hE L AR10,000,0007 100%(Z2—%:100%) EE #E - #A K& FER
KEERNHERTE
HERERR () ERAR PRC PRC RMB900,000 90% (2021: NJA) Investment holding
(Yu Tak Health Technology
(Shenzhen) Company
Limited®)* ("Yu Tak Health")
(Note (bl)
PERENR(R)ERAF e HE AR900,0007 0%(ZB=—F:MER) REZR
(Tges ) (Rizto))
nESRRERR(R) PRC PRC RMB5,000,000 63% (2021: NJA] Design, production and sales of smart
BRAF (Yu Tak Hukang rehabilitation products
Health Technology (Shenzhen)
Company Limited®)*
("Yu Tak Huikang") (Note (b))
HESRRRUR(RI)ERAR & HE AR5,000,0007C 83%(Z3=—F:MER)  Hit FEREERNREER
(T2 (o)

* %

Note:

(a)

(b)

113 Yu Tak

Limited liability company
Wholly foreign-owned enterprise
The English names of the PRC or Taiwan companies

are translation of their Chinese names for identification
purpose only and are not their official names

Excel Global IT Services (Hangzhou) Co., Limited was
under deregistration process as at 31 December 2021
and was deregistered on 25 March 2022.

Incorporated during the year ended 31 December 2022.
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for the year ended 31 December 2022 2 —FE - —F+ - A=+—HIFFZF

16.

INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

(Continued)

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company
which, in the opinion of the directors, principally affected
the results for the year or formed a substantial portion
of the net assets of the Group. To give details of other
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result
in particulars of excessive length.

Change in ownership interests in subsidiaries

On 10 January 2021, the Group acquired an additional
19.9% equity interest in i21 Limited (“i21") at a cash
consideration of HK$10,000. Upon the acquisition
of additional interest of 21, i21, together with its
subsidiaries, HR21 Holdings Limited and HR21 Limited
(collectively, "i21 Group"”) became the wholly owned
subsidiaries of the Group.

Immediately prior to the acquisition of additional
interest, the carrying amount of net liabilities of non-
controlling interests of i21 Group were HK$1,963,000.
The difference of HK$1,973,000 between the carrying
amount of net liabilities of non-controlling interests
acquired and the consideration paid has been debited to
capital reserve.

16.

RB AR 2= #)

ERIRZARBIMNBRF » NEERR
HAKEFAXREEIBZFELRBRAE
BFEECEERD - EFARINLEM
MBARERERBERNITE

RBRRZrEEEREE

RZEZ—F—A+H A&EENUERES
R AE10,000/8 T4 #Ei21 Limited (Ti21])
EEONED19.9% Ia#E o RUREEI21 REIME 25
% - i21E R E M B2 FIHR21 Holdings
Limited 2HR21 Limited (4 F8[i215E )
REAEEN2ENH B AR

i%é?‘uﬁzﬁ%ﬁwl\ffé SR 21 B IEIE AR AE

mH)FBERMEES,963,00087T © &
IR E R FEEREEHEE R
B2 #%31,973,0008 T st AE AN M o
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16.

115

INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

(Continued)

Material non-controlling interests

At 31 December 2022, the Group includes two
subsidiaries with material non-controlling interests

("NCI"),

the details and the summarised financial

information, before intragroup eliminations, are as

follows:

16.

B AR 2= #)

BEARFEERERS
RZE-_—_F+-_A=+—8H  £X&EH
BIEMEERS EAIEERER (] FEERR

@m)ZMBATE - BEFBRMEERY
Z(RETEBEARRMHHE)HIMT

Yu Tak Health Yu Tak Huikang

HERE HEZE
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THET
Proportion of ownership interests and JEiZ Hﬂz&mﬁﬁhﬁﬁﬁ*&%&m&
voting rights held by NCI FAEZBD 10% 37%
Current assets TENEE 117 7,107
Non-current assets FRBEE 5,655 2,827
Current liabilities mEAE (4,646) (1,170)
Non-current liabilities FrBBE - (1,685)
Net assets BEFE 1,126 7,079
Carrying amount of NCI R REE 112 2,619
Revenue WA = 1,441
Loss for the year FRER (5) (1,025)
Total comprehensive income/(expense) FREEWE/(F%) @58
for the year 50 (662)
Loss attributable to NCI RIS FE (L B (1) (379)
Total comprehensive income/(expense) FEREREE RS (RX) 28
attributable to NCI 3 (245)
Net cash flows generated from operating A TIBEL VRS RE R
activities 4,645 1,109
Net cash flows used in investing activites ~REEBERZESTREFE (5,655) (2,862)
Net cash flows generated from REEHEEHEREFH
financing activities 975 5,418
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17. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS 17. HthemEE

2022 2021
—E-CF —T-—fF
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET FAIT

Financial assets at FVOCI BAAREBEFAEMEEREN

(non-recycling) SREE(TAEHE)

Unlisted private equity fund FLETMRAREES 391 447
Unlisted equity investments (note (a)) JE_ R AIRE (M (a)) 24,487 23,776
24,878 24,223

Notes: B -

(a) As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the amount (a) NR-_EBE-_—_FR-_TE-_—F+-F=+
represented the fair value of 10% interests in an unlisted —B - ZeBEEN—HEIELMAATE
private entity established in the PRC, which is principally B10%E=M AR EE @ ZEERTE
engaged in property development, property leasing and M TEREWERE  YEBEENR
property management. MEEIE o

(b) The fair values of unlisted private equity fund and (b) FELEFTIAREZES RIELFTRAIEE
unlisted equity investments have been measured as KA EED M EES5.6ATMlETE ©
described in note 35.6.

18. &
18. INVENTORIES
2022 2021
—ECC_F —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET FAIT

Gold and jewellery products: EERHKEEMR

Finished goods BURN SR 43,937 46,800

Packing materials BEME - 58

43,937 46,858
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19. CONTRACT ASSETS AND 19.

CONTRACT LIABILITIES

19.1 Contract assets

BREERENERE

19.1 EHEE

2022 2021
—E-CF T
HK$'000 HK$'000
F T FHETT

Contract assets arising from  RIEGHELZANEE
service contracts 2,242 2,789
Less: ECL allowance B TEHEEEIa R A (14) (46)
2,228 2,743

The decrease of contract assets in both years is
mainly due to the decrease in scale of ongoing
service contracts at the end of the years.

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the balance of
contract assets is expected to be recovered within
one year.

The movement in the ECL allowance of contract
assets is as follows:

MEFENENEERD I EZHRER

R ERBEORERD -

RZEZ—FR_FT——

Ft-A=1—

B - AHEEAHERER—FRNKE -

BHEERYMEEBRBEBZEDWT -

2022 2021

—E-—F —E-—F

HK$'000 HK$'000

F &t T

Balance at 1 January R—A—Bz#&H% 46 =

(Reversal of ECL allowance)/ FWER < (FBHEERE

ECL allowance recognised BERR) TEREEEERE

during the year (32) 46

Balance at 31 December R+ A=+—B2#&#% 14 46
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19. CONTRACT ASSETS AND 19. ENEERGHNERE®)
CONTRACT LIABILITIES (continued)
19.2 Contract liabilities 19.2 §XEE
2022 2021
—E-—F T —F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET T
Contract liabilities arising FEWBHRRZBRIEENEEZ
from service contracts EHEE
from billings in advance of
performance 6,745 9,324
Contract liabilities arising from $HEEREWRFEELEZ
receipts in advance of sales aHaE
of goods 31 122
6,776 9,446
When the Group receives a deposit before the BRE BN EE R BRI REETATIR
sales activity commences or services perform, this nigg @ BleELEEA08E -
will give rise to contract liabilities.
The decrease of contract liability is mainly due to SEHMBERIS I FEARBE T -
decrease in sales volume during the year ended +-A=+—BI-FEMNHEERLDAE -

31 December 2022.
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19.

20.

119

CONTRACT ASSETS AND 19.

CONTRACT LIABILITIES (Continued)

19.2 Contract liabilities (Continued)

The increase of contract liability is mainly due to
increase in average price of maintenance services
during the year ended 31 December 2021.

Contract liabilities outstanding at the beginning
of the year amounting to HK$9,446,000 (2021:
HK$7,422,000) have been recognised as revenue
during the year.

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the balance of

EHNEERENERE®)

19.2 EHBEE)

BHBBEENNEIZHREBE_T_—F
T A=+ —RALEFEANRERS TS
B LFATER -

REVRKREES L EE,446,000% T

(ZZE=—4% : 7,422,000 7T ) B N E R HE
RBAEUA o

RIB-_—_FR-_F-_—F+-_A=+—

contract liabilities is expected to be settled within B AHBEEHTERR—FREE -
one year.
TRADE RECEIVABLES 20. EWE Z R
2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
F &t T
Trade receivables FEWE Z IR 1,687 9,638
Less: ECL allowance B TEHAEEEERG (162) (290)
1,525 9,348

The directors of the Group considered that the fair values
of trade receivables are not materially different from their
carrying amounts because these balances have short
maturity periods on their inception.

Trade receivables for IT Products and Services are due
within 0 to 60 days (2021: 0 to 60 days) from the date of
billing. Debtors with balances that are more than 90 days
overdue are requested to settle all outstanding balances
before any further credit is granted.
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20.

TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

The Group's sales of gold and jewellery products
comprised mainly credit sales to wholesalers which are
due within 0 to 90 days (2021: 0 to 90 days) from the
date of billing.

Based on the invoice dates (or date of revenue recognition
if earlier), the ageing analysis of the trade receivables, net
of ECL allowance, was as follows:

20.

@Uﬁlf’i% EEZI’A\

AEEZHGRREBERFEEETZERERA
HERHEEHE  FEPAREAE
EEATH(ZE-_—F:ZEATH)A
28 -

BREZEZAHRKARR B HB(HER
8)) RURBSER(CHGREREEESR
B 2 BRI

2022 2021

—E-—F —E-—F

HK$°000 HK$'000

T T

0 - 30 days 0 — 30H 1,264 2,772
31 - 60 days 31 — 60H 35 6,099
61 — 90 days 61 — 90H - -
Over 90 days HBiE90H 226 477
1,525 9,348

The movement in the ECL allowance of trade receivables
is as follows:

BWE SERBREEEERE 2 ZHN
™

2022 2021

—E-—F %

HK$'000 HK$'000

FE T T

Balance at 1 January R—A—Bz#&% 290 153
(Reversal of ECL allowance)/ECL FARR (FEHREEEERE

allowance recognised BE), EHEEEERE

during the year (128) 137

Balance at 31 December R+—A=+—82#%& 162 290
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21.

121

OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS  21. HiEKHE - e RANK
AND PREPAYMENTS I8
2022 2021
—Eg-= —F——
HK$'000 HK$'000
T T
Other receivables HAth pE U IR 3,384 4,574
Deposits & 293 199
Prepayments (notes (ii) TR RIE (B RE () 16,816 18,561
Value-added tax recoverable Al (B R 310 2,257
Amounts due from FEUW — IR A B FEFE AR IR R
non-controlling shareholders of SRIE (B 5 Gii))
a subsidiary (notes (iii)) 2,798 -
23,601 25,591
Notes: Pzt -
(i) The movement in the ECL allowance of other receivables (i) HipE R R igs 2 = B E R
and deposits are as follows: Bz EHmT -
2022 2021
B _—F —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHTT
Balance at 1 January R—A—Bz#&e 20 =
ECL allowance recognised FRER 2 TEEEEERE
during the year 162 20
Balance at 31 December R+ A=+—HB2&#% 182 20
(ii) Included in prepayments as at 31 December 2022 (ii) R_E-_—_F+_A=+—HzER[
was advances to a sub-contractor for its professional REBRERN —Z27BEEREMBR
services under IT products and services segment of EmERBESHBEBETRHOFERS
HK$15,189,000 (2021: HK$17,583,000). 15,189,000 (=T = — F :
17,583,000/ 7C) °
(iii) As at 31 December 2022, the amounts due are unsecured, (iii) RZZEZZF+=—A=+—8 ' %E[
interest-free and repayable on demand. KB AERE « R EWEREREE -
The directors of the Group considered that the fair values AEEEERAEMEWIE - e RE
of other receivables, deposits and prepayments are not NFEATHERR  WZEEHRZ2ARE
materially different from their carrying amounts because EHERABETESEAESR -

these balances have short maturity periods on their
inception.
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22.

23.

CASH AND BANK BALANCES

Included in cash and bank balances of the Group is
HK$4,555,000 (2021: HK$4,130,000) of bank balances
denominated in RMB placed with banks in the PRC.
RMB is not a freely convertible currency. Under the
PRC’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and
Administration of Settlement and Sales and Payment of
Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to
exchange RMB for foreign currencies through banks that
are authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

TRADE PAYABLES

The Group was granted by its suppliers credit periods
ranging from 0 to 90 days (2021: 0 to 90 days). Based
on the invoice dates, the ageing analysis of the trade
payables were as follows:

22.

23.

BERBRITEMR

NEBE 2 B¢ RIRITF B 154,655,000/
TT(=Z ——4F : 4,130,000 7T ) F HH
BIENIRITIAARBEBEZRITER © A
REABTTERRLBEE - REBEFEH 2N
[ 5 B IBAKO R AETE - EIE KA B IS
T - AEBE R EE B IEERAEITINE
HREB 2 BITHARE LR AINE o

A E SR

HERAKTAEB Z2EEHNTEZ N+
A( 22— :Z2EN+AH) BEHXE
BE - ENE SRR ZEHEIITOT

2022 2021

—Eg-= —F——
HK$°000 HK$'000
T T T
0 - 30 days 0 — 30H 8 4,802
31- 60 days 31 — 60H - 1
61 — 90 days 61 — 90H 93 =
Over 90 days HiE90H 393 -
494 4,803

All amounts are short term and hence the carrying
amounts of trade payables are considered to be a
reasonable approximation of fair value.

FMETHEBRENTEYE  BENESRARZ
REEREAAABEZAEOH -
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24. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUED 24, HtENRIERTERER
CHARGES
2022 2021
—ZE_— —E——
HK$°000 HK$'000
THT T
Other payables (note (i) HAth pE 3B (B REG)) 3,302 3,340
Accrued charges BIRE A 1,942 1,616
5,244 4,956
Note: BftsE -

25.

123

(i)

Included in other payables as at 31 December 2022 were
staff bonus payable of HK$160,000 (2021: HK$305,000)
and deposits received from franchisees of HK$2,058,000
(2021: HK$2,306,000).

All amounts are short term and hence the carrying
amounts of other payables and accrued charges are
considered to be a reasonable approximation of fair

value.

ANMOUNT DUE TO A DIRECTOR

The amount due to a director is unsecured, interest-free
and repayable on demand.

Yu Tak International Holdings Limited ANNUAL REPORT 2022

25.

(i) R-TE-_—F+-_A=+—HzHME
NFRIBE B 160,000 T (ZTE=-—4F :
305,000/ 7T ) 2 FEfT B TIEAL & B 53T
INER R W ER 2 2 2,058,0007 L ( =&
——4F : 2,306,000/ 7T) °

PMETRBERLEYE  WHBRMNKIEAR
BREMZEAERESAABEZARE
B -

B—2EENE
BN —2EERARMER « REYAR
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26. LEASE LIABILITIES

The following table shows the remaining contractual
maturities of the Group's lease liabilities:

26.

*HE:’EJE

E@KE :

2022 2021
—ECCfF —E-—fF
HK$'000 HK$°000
FET F#& T
Total minimum lease payments: FIEAE I 5R4E%5E -
— Due within one year ——FRE|H 837 569
— Due in the second to fifth years —RE_EFRFAIH 1,764 355
2,601 924
Future finance charges on lease HEBBEZRRY B H
liabilities (181) (36)
Present value of lease liabilities HEaEzRE 2,420 888
Present value of minimum lease HERSMHZIRE
payments:
- Due within one year ——F R E 735 539
- Due in the second to fifth years —-REZEFRFNEH 1,685 349
2,420 888
Less: Portion due within one year B BEFARBBBER —FA
included under current ZIEAER D
liabilities (735) (539)
Portion due after one year included Bt AFEREBENR —F%
under non-current liabilities B HAER 1,685 349

As at 31 December 2022, the Group has obtained the
right to use land and buildings through five (2021: four)
tenancy agreements. The leases typically run on an initial
period of three (2021: three) years.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the total
cash outflows for the leases are HK$774,000 (2021:
HK$734,000).

R-B__F+-A=+—H8" $EIE
EBh(ZFT-—F: E)Tﬁﬁﬁiﬂﬁz’:
ERLRET 2R - HE— %)]*/Fﬁ'j
H=(ZF_FF:=)F -

HE-_Z-_—F+-A=1+—HILFE -
HEMRESRLBTEART74,0008 T (=F
——% : 734,000/7T) °
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27. SHARE CAPITAL 27. BAR
2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—%F
Number of Number of
shares HK$'000 shares HK$'000
B8 TR ESvEE FAET
Authorised: AT
Ordinary shares of FREE 1AL
HK$0.1 each Liak
At 1 January and R—B—BKk+=A
31 December =+—H 5,000,000,000 500,000 5,000,000,000 500,000
Issued and fully paid: BEETRARE :
At 1 January and ®W—A—BREk+=A
31 December == 1,947,690,000 194,769 1,947,690,000 194,769
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28. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL 28. X AHBAMRR K

POSITION OF THE COMPANY

2022 2021
—E-CF —T-—F
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
B zE FiEx FHET
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEEREE
Non-current asset FREBEE
Interests in subsidiaries N EB AR 2R —* —*
Current assets REEE
Prepayments B FE 228 394
Cash and bank balances Be MBTER 9 195
237 589
Current liabilities nEBAE
Other payables and accrued charges Hih 7B RERE R 1,485 1,260
Amount due to a subsidiary et —FEHT B2 R IA 5,205 5,205
Amount due to a director JEN—ZEEHIA 20,049 15,543
26,739 22,008
Net current liabilities REEETE (26,502) (21,419)
Total assets less current liabilities EELBERRBAR (26,502) (21,419)
Net liabilities FEE (26,502) (21,419)
EQUITY B
Share capital [ 194,769 194,769
Reserves i 29(a) (221,271) (216,188)
Capital deficiencies EREH (26,502) (21,419)

* Less than HK$1,000

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of

directors on 21 April 2023.

Li Xia
Director

581,000 7T

R-ZE-_=FNA-+—RAKESe

R RETIE -

=8 Chong Yu Ping
Director

EF

— = — —
=

R
#F
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29. RESERVES 29. f#iE
Note: Bfizr -
(a) The movement of the Company’s reserves are as (a) RNATIZHEESBSIT -
follows:
Share Accumulated
premium losses Total
R RE Rt wE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET FER
(note 29(b))
(Ff7E29(b))
At 1 January 2021 RZZT=_—F—HF—H 218,532 (428,502) (209,970)
Loss for the year and total FREERFAEAEFM S BEE
comprehensive expense
for the year = (6,218) (6,218)
At 31 December 2021 and R-ZZE=-_—4F+=-RA=+—H
1 January 2022 r=—ZFTE-_—9—H—H 218,532 (434,720) (216,188)
Loss for the year and total FREBERFAZAMZEE
comprehensive expense
for the year - (5,083) (5,083)
At 31 December 2022 R-BE-_—_F+=-H=+—H 218,532 (439,803) (221,271)
(b) Share premium (b) &5 = E

The share premium represents the difference between
the par value of the shares of the Company and net
proceeds received from the issuance of the shares of
the Company.

The application of the share premium account is
governed by section 40 of the Bermuda Companies Act.

30. LEASE COMMITMENTS

At the reporting date, the lease commitments for short-
term leases are as follows:

ety @ ERARRROMEIEEAR
ABRTROMSREFEZENER -

ROVEEREMTARERFEEA0
s

30. HEXKIE

R|EAE - BHHENHEHEAZWT :

2022 2021

—E-—F —ZEZ—F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FH T FHET

Within one year —F N 388 195
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31.

32.

33.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS BARESE
2022 2021
—E-—F T —F
HK$'000 HK$'000
F T FHETT
Contracted but not provided for BERT#E R BHE
— Property, plant and equipment — % - BEKEE 396 =
RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 32. BBEXRS

Except as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated
financial statements, the Group had no other material
transactions with related parties.

Key management personnel remuneration

Key management of the Group are members of the board
of directors. Key management personnel remuneration
includes the following expenses:

fﬂ%i*Aﬁﬁéziﬁﬁﬁ@ﬁMﬁPﬂ&?E%% N
SEEERRE T ETHEBEAR

FEEBEAEME
AEENERE

BEREEEKE - X8
ERAEMEBRETIIMX

2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FE T FHAT
Short term employee benefits MHEERA 1,733 2,685
Post-employment benefits BERL R R A 152 135
1,885 2,820

SIGNIFICANT NON-CASH 33. EXRFRERS

TRANSACTION

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group REBEEZE-__F+-A=+—HLHF

entered into certain lease contracts in which addition
to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities amounting to
HK$2,340,000 (2021: HK$nil) was recognised at the lease
commencement date.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, certain expenses
of the Group of HK$1,447,000 (2021: HK$3,542,000) are
paid by a director of the Company on behalf of the Group.

B AEEFYETHE

AH) - HPRHE

B A Hﬂﬁﬁ?ﬂuﬁ*ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ %:éi?&%ﬂ‘ﬁ*

&2,340,00008 T(—ZE =

THETT) o

REBEE-_T-_—_F+-_A=+—HLF
B AEBETRY1,447,0008 (=%
——% : 3,542,000 T)HANE —ZE

ERRAEEN -
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34. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES 34. EETBHEE 2B EBYHER
ARISING FROM FINANCING
ACTIVITIES
The changes in the Group's liabilities arising from AEFBRRETHELEZBEEH A
financing activities can be classified as follows: O
Lease Amount due to
liabilities a director
Ed—%
HEAE EENE
HK$000 HK$°000
FE T F#ET
At 1 January 2021 R=2B=-—-%—-H—H 1,358 8,088
Cash-flows: ReERE
Advance from a director —REBEEBN - 299
Repayment to a director M—RESEERNE - (9,891)
Capital element of lease rentals paid BENHEER SRS (486) -
Interest element of lease rentals paid EffHHEMREH 8% Tﬁ (53) -
Non-cash: FES
Interest expenses (note 10) FE RS (FiFE10) 53 -
Exchange differences PE =5 16 (238)
Expense paid on behalf of the REARB L AR
Company - 3,642
At 31 December 2021 N-B_-_—-F+=-HA=+—8 888 1,800
At 1 January 2022 R-ZE-_—_%—H—H 888 1,800
Cash-flows: RERE
Advance from a director —REBEEBN - 1,615
Repayment to a director M—RESEERER - (16)
Capital element of lease rentals paid B HEER SRS % (437) -
Interest element of lease rentals paid ZFHEEMREF B 2% (45) -
Non-cash: FES
Interest expenses (note 10) FE RS (FizE10) 45 -
Entering into new lease RN FEE 2,340 -
Early termination of leases RELIEHEE (223) -
Lease modification HEWR (35) -
Exchange differences EH Z5 (113) 933
Expense paid on behalf of the RARB R
Company = 1,447
At 31 December 2022 R=B=-Z-f+=A=+-—H 2,420 5,779
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35.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

The Group is exposed to financial risks through its use of
financial instruments in its ordinary course of operations
and in its investment activities. The financial risks include
market risk (including foreign currency risk and interest
rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages
its financial risk and takes actions to mitigate such risk.
The Group adopts conservative strategies on its risk
management and seeks to limit the Group’s exposure to
these risks to a minimum. The board of directors reviews
and agrees policies for managing each of these risks.

There has been no change to the type of the Group's
exposure in respect of financial instruments or the
manner in which it manages and measures the risks.

35.

e

MBEBRERERAAEBESR

AEERREARRGBET RNERE
AERERS R T AMAEN KRR - &
BRERSEMSAR (23RNSR R R =
Rk - EERREREIERAR

AEEEGRBERRTMEEEMHR
b WEREBITERIEARARAR - AEEE
B I T T PR ER R A R ST RS - BT
BAEEAZ Z HERBBRERE - EF
RN kAEEESBERRARIBR

AEEMPREMIARRZBRARKEE
BRAEARRRZITEHERZE -
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 35. iIXRARBREERAAEBENE
AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (48)
(Continued)
35.1 Categories of financial assets and 35.1 sRIEERABEZER
liabilities

The carrying amounts presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position relate to the
following categories of financial assets and financial

e MBI RA 25 2 REEY
RATERzEREERERAE:

liabilities:
2022 2021
—E-—F T
HK$'000 HK$'000
T T T
Financial assets TRMEE
Financial assets at amortised cost HE#HK AT ENCREE
— Trade receivables — KRB ZERR 1,525 9,348
— Other receivables and deposits ~ — B U IE Mg S 6,475 4,773
— Cash and bank balances — e RIFTTER 23,438 19,562
Financial assets at FVOCI BAREBEFAHEMEEREE
(non-recycling) MemEE (T EE)
— Unlisted private equity fund —FEMAABREES 391 447
- Unlisted equity investments —JELmRARE 24,487 23,776
56,316 57,906
Financial liabilities EHMAE
Financial liabilities measured at HHERATENemAE
amortised cost
— Trade payables — BB SRR 494 4,803
— Other payables and accrued —H M ERRIARIERE A
charges 5,244 4,956
— Amount due to a director —EN—REEHE 5,779 1,800
— Lease liabilities —HE&E 2,420 888
13,937 12,447
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 35. BIKREKREERAABEE

AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (4&)

(Continued)

35.2 Foreign currency risk 35.2 SRR
Foreign currency risk refers to the risk that the fair INEE R B 45 RE RS E) M E RS/
value or future cash flows of a financial instrument TEZRARBEXERKEBESRE
will fluctuate because of changes in foreign HIREE 2B - REEES ZIN
exchange rates. The Group's exposure to foreign BMERTFERAaENET(ET]
currency risk arise primarily from its financial MARBAEZCHEENBE -
assets and liabilities denominated in United HWEEEWIESREERTHZER
States Dollars (“US$"”) and RMB. These are not BRI EE R_ZTE-—"FK
the functional currencies of the group entities —E—F+ZHA=1+—8 ' #AR
to which these transactions relate. As at 31 UETRARBHECEREER
December 2022 and 2021, as the financial assets BEITTEKN @ AT ZINER R
and liabilities denominated in US$ and RMB are AR BRI o

insignificant, the exposure to foreign currency risk
is considered minimal.
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 35. XEREERAAEBETE

AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (&)

(Continued)

35.3 Interest rate risk 35.3 FE@AM
Interest rate risk relates to the risk that the fair MERBIESHTEZ AR BED
value or cash flows of a financial instrument BenERMSNREEmEIRK
will fluctuate because of changes in the market R o  AREBNFERERETE
interest rates. The Group's interest rate risk arises RERTERMEEEE -
primarily from bank balances and lease liabilities.
The exposure to interest rates for the Group's NEBRTERALBEREMAT
bank balances and lease liabilities is considered ZHERARILAEAKX o
immaterial.

35.4 Credit risk 35.4 FERRK
Credit risk refers to the risk that the counterparty FEERRESHIAZZSSZHFX
to a financial instrument would fail to discharge EREEMTAEZERETEER
its obligation under the terms of the financial MEAEBETHHEERE AR -
instrument and cause a financial loss to the Group. AEFBMAINEERRETERE
The Group's exposure to credit risk mainly arises RER—REEBEFRELELD
from granting credit to customers in the ordinary FEERKEEREETH -
course of its operations and from its investing
activities.
The Group's maximum exposure to credit risk for AREEBRR - E__FR_T_—
the components of the consolidated statement of FH+ZA=+—BZEAEWBERR
financial position at 31 December 2022 and 2021 KOERTMDMAEAR ZEEEER
is the carrying amount as disclosed in note 35.1. b RERE(E - HERMIEE35.1 -
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 35. iIKEKREERAAEBEE
AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS )
(Continued)
35.4 Credit risk (Continued) 354 EERKE)

(i) Trade receivables and contract assets (i) JEWE ZERAR A HEE
Management has a credit policy in place EREREEEBREAEL
for approving the credit limits and the ZERE  FEEZRRE
exposures to credit risk are monitored ERBEREEREBENEBA
such that any outstanding debtors are LABS 2 = E Rk o
reviewed and followed up on an ongoing REBHREAEHEEZE
basis. The Group's policy is to deal only MEFHIRS - BREZMER
with creditworthy counterparties. Payment ST R BLER o 4hERE HA
record of customers is closely monitored. BENTAZEAREER
Customers of IT Products and Services LIRGEEFPBEEEER A
with balances that are more than 90 BELEBREBHAERE—F
days overdue are required to settled all FE - AEE-—RITERE
outstanding balances before any further B UET KR -
credit is granted. Normally, the Group does
not obtain collateral from customers.

Trade receivables and contract assets are FERESERAMAHNEER
written off (i.e. derecognised) when there & 12 T8 2 40X W B 8
is no reasonable expectation of recovery. (BNEIERERR) ©

The Group has certain concentration of AEBERKESRAEFES
credit risk in respect of trade receivables TEREERR  B—32F
as 37% (2021: 24%) of the total trade FPEXNSRENERE SR
receivables was due from a customer. TEFERST%(ZFE = —F:

24%) ©
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

85

(Continued)

35.4 Credit risk (Continued)

(i)

Trade receivables and contract assets
(Continued)

Trade receivables and contract assets that
are individually considered to be significant
have been separately assessed for ECL.
The Group makes periodic assessments
on the recoverability of the receivables
based on background and reputation of
the customers, historical settlements and
past experience. During the years ended
31 December 2022 and 2021, no contract
asset was individually written off in full.

The Group has applied the simplified
approach to assess the ECL as prescribed
by HKFRS 9. In calculating the ECL rates,
the Group considers historical elements and
forward looking elements.

To measure the ECL, trade receivables and
contract assets have been grouped based
on shared credit risk characteristics and the
past due days. In calculating the ECL rates,
the Group considers historical elements and
forward looking elements.

Yu Tak International Holdings Limited ANNUAL REPORT 2022

MBEREERAAEBESR

(1)

i

354 EERKE)

ERE ZERAREKIEE
(%)

BRIHERBEANNERE S
ERREHNEEDEBED
TEHEEEETE - A5E
BREEFHNEEREE
BEGEERBEFCREEY
FRIB R AT Y (Bl 1 TE HAAE T AT
o RNEBEE—E-_—FK—
- —F+-_A=+—AH1t
FE  BESHEEEEH
&R F LA S o

RIEFEVHRELERF
SREORE - ARBEEA/BE
TENFHETRBEEES -
REFEREREEEHEBRE -
REEEBESL TR NMATE
ML= -

SETERBEERR - B
BHEARBNEECDRE
HREERRFHERBHX
ol - R EEMEES
BXE > AEEEEELRT
ENATEMTER -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RAR I

for the year ended 31 December 2022 #;

I —

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (%)

(Continued)

35.4 Credit risk (Continued)

Ft-A=1+—HIFE

35. KEREERQAAEBER

35.4 ERRE)

e

(i) Trade receivables and contract assets (i) JEWE ZERAREHEE
(Continued) (%)
The ECL for trade receivables and contract RIE_—_FR_ZT-—F
assets as at 31 December 2022 and 2021 +=—A=+—8 " EBKES
were determined as follows: ERREHNEENTEHRESR
EEEENT :
Jewellery Products IT Products and Services Others
KEER ERNHERR R )
Gross  Lifetime Gross  Lifetime Gross  Lifetime
ECLrate  amount ECL  ECLrate  amount ECL  ECLrate  amount ECL
sEE R9%8  REEE REEH  BSEE EELE]
FE% BE (SRR g% BB GERE - BE GEER
HK$'000  HKS'000 HKS'000  HKS'000 HKS'000  HKS'000
Tén T#n Tén Thn Th7n Tz
2022 CECCE
Trade receivables EhEAES
Past due: o
0-90 days 0908 0%-3.44% - - 0%-2.20% 811 - (%-1.66% 50 8
Over 90 days hut 90AsE
within 1 year - 344% - - 260% 01 5 166% - -
Over 1 year B L I 100% - - e - -
s w5 W
Contract assets ahEE
Past due: o
090 days 0908 NER - - 0&% M 4 NWRER - -
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 35. BIKRERBEERAABETE
AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (&)
(Continued)
35.4 Credit risk (Continued) 354 =ERKE)
(i) Trade receivables and contract assets (i) JEWE SRR & HIEE
(Continued) (&)
The ECL for trade receivables and contract NZEZ_FR-_E-—F
assets as at 31 December 2022 and 2021 +=-—A=+—8 EKEZS
were determined as follows: (Continued) EREABHNEENTEHREER

EIREEWT (&)

Jewellery Products [T Products and Services Others
HEER ERNRERRER i
Gross  Lifetime Gross  Lifetime Gross  Lifetime
ECLrate  amount ECL  ECLrate  amount ECL  ECLrate  amount ECL
RlRe R9E8  REEE KRN B EEGE]
FEE BE EEFE  BEE BE EEER  BEX BE  EEER
HK$'000  HKS'000 HKS'000  HKS'000 HKS'000  HKS'000
Tén  Tin T TiEn T TEn
0 i
Trade receivables EHERER
Past due: i
090 days 0908 0% - 2.48% 1,199 1 0%-348% 7790 07 NARER = 2
Qver 90 days hut #8908
within 1 year iy 342% 488 17 348% 6 4 NANER = =
Over 1 year BE-f 100% - - 100% 195 15 NATER = =
Contract assets Al
Past due: i
090 days 0908 NIVNER - 1.65% ﬂ _46 NARER -
a Less than HK$1,000 * 1,000 7T
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 35. iIKEKREERAAEBEE
AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS )
(Continued)
35.4 Credit risk (Continued) 35.4 SERMKE)

(ii) Other financial assets at amortised cost (ii) B IH AT ER A2
Other financial assets measured at REEKATENEM SR
amortised cost include other receivables B E AR E b E W EIE K iR
and deposits and cash and bank balances. ﬁl«‘A&fﬁ%&fE"Tm =1
In order to minimise the credit risk, the BRIV EERR - A&
management of the Group would make = E.i%l’-‘}i—ﬁﬁ}}fﬂﬁ EE D
periodic collective and individual assessment B N OB 1E LB DA K & BT AN B
on the recoverability of other receivables BRE E R IE IR
and deposits based on historical settlement B R U B 14 E BRE TR B8 I
records and past experience and current BERIFEE - WIEEARUAR
external information and adjusted to AR pNRERY AT RE 1HE (= 8
reflect probability-weighted forward-looking BIEEBES AL ST
information, including the default rate HE AR o [IFSEH e
where the relevant debtors operates. Other TR RERIELE BREITE
monitoring procedures are in place to ensure AU Bl @ BR(ETE o Fhitkm
that follow-up action is taken to recover s EtEWERIERES 2
overdue debts. In these regards, the credit EFEERBHE AR -
risk of other receivables and deposits are
considered to be low.

The management is of opinion that there KE R 2.6 FTH %
is no significant increase in credit risk on % AREHRRE -
other receivables and deposits since initial JEEL\EE?H*FEEMLAJKEM
recognition as the risk of default is low FEWZTBERIESHNEERR
after considering the factors as set out in W KR EFA - ERREM
note 2.6. The ECL rate applied for other FEWFHBRIRSHNEREZE
receivables and deposits ranged from 0% - Eﬂa RN F0%Z24.11% (=
4.11% (2021: 0% to 2.54%). T —F 0% E2.54%) °
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

139

AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
(Continued)

35.4 Credit risk (Continued)

(i1) Other financial assets at amortised cost
(Continued)

The credit risk for bank balances is
considered to be insignificant because the
counterparties are reputable banks with
high quality external credit ratings.

35.5 Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk relates to the risk that the Group will
not be able to meet its obligations associated with
its financial liabilities that are settled by delivering
cash or another financial asset. The Group is
exposed to liquidity risk in respect of settlement
of trade and other payables and its financing
obligations, and also in respect of its cash flow
management. The Group’s objective is to maintain
an appropriate level of liquid assets to meet its
liguidity requirements in the short and longer
term.

Analysed below is the Group's remaining
contractual maturities for its financial liabilities
as at 31 December 2022 and 2021. When the
creditor has a choice of when the liability is
settled, the liability is included on the basis of the
earliest date on when the Group can be required
to pay. Where the settlement of the liability is in
instalments, each instalment is allocated to the
earliest period in which the Group is committed to

pay.
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for the year ended 31 December 2022 2 —FE - —F+ - A=+—HIFFZF

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 35. IXEAREERAAEBETE
AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (&)
(Continued)
35.5 Liquidity risk (Continued) 35.5 RENMEREBR(Z)
The contractual maturity analysis below is based UTEAELHERITNERESREE
on the undiscounted cash flows of the financial ZARBIRMIRSRE °
liabilities.
Within  Over 1 year Total
1 year or but within undiscounted Carrying
on demand 5 years amount amount
—EN0E
—ERFRER BRFR  RUERAR BREE
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT TET TER TER
2022 —E-C-F
Trade payables e E SRR 494 = 494 494
Other payables and HinERRIERERER
accrued charges 5,244 - 5,244 5,244
Amount due a to director  [Eff—ZEEFIE 5,779 - 5,779 5,779
Lease liabilities HE&E 837 1,764 2,601 2,420
12,354 1,764 14,118 13,937
2021 —B--F
Trade payables FERE HHRN 4,803 = 4,803 4,803
Other payables and Hib e 5B RIEIRE A
accrued charges 4,956 - 4,956 4,956
Amount due a to director  Eff—ZEEFIE 1,800 - 1,800 1,800
Lease liabilities HERE 569 355 924 888
12,128 355 12,483 12,447

—— —
=

FEH HEARERERAE
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 35. iIXEKREERAAEBEE
AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (&)
(Continued)
35.6 Fair value measurements of financial 356 ERITANAAEBETE
instruments
Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair HREMBRARPERARBENE
value in the consolidated statement of financial HemEERBBAIDAEARBE
position are grouped into three levels of a fair EBRN=(FH - = @ASEHERT
value hierarchy. The three levels are defined based ERASBNAEREREREREET
on the observability and significance of inputs to FWOT :
the measurements, as follows:
. Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active . F—H: HREERBER
markets for identical assets and liabilities. SRS RE CREHAR) -
. Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices ° F_H:  REENEBBRE
included within Level 1 that are observable ZEdMETEENG AZ
for the asset or liability, either directly B(E—HRABTERRER
or indirectly, and not using significant GN) - RARBEEBEKNEX
unobservable inputs. Bl A SR o
. Level 3: significant unobservable inputs for . E=H: AEXBENER
the asset or liability. LB ABUR -
The level in the fair value hierarchy within which SELMEES B EEREMES A
the financial asset or liability is categorised in its MNARBEERANER - HER
entirety based on the lowest level of input that is HANABEIT=EEAEEREEZENR
significant to the fair value measurement. RE ARG AR -
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 35. iIKEKREERAAEBEE
AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (4&)
(Continued)
35.6 Fair value measurements of financial 35.6 ERMTEMNAREBETEE)
instruments (Continued)
The financial assets measured at fair value on AR EEEEZNAEBEFZNS
a recurring basis are grouped into the fair value MEESZBALNALBERRLT :
hierarchy as follows:
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
F—& ot F=R #m
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT TERT TR THER
2022 —E-CF
Financial assets at FVOCl %A BEET A
(non-recycling) FHNENEREE
(RagleE)
- Unlisted private —FLETLARRES
equity fund - - 391 391
- Unlisted equity —EETRARE
investments - - 24,487 24,487
- = 24,878 24,878
2021 —E-—%
Financial assets at FVOCl  #EA A BEFTAEM
(non-recycling) ZAMENEBHEE
(e gleE)
- Unlisted private —FLETRAREES
equity fund = = 447 447
- Unlisted equity —FLETRARE
investments - - 23,776 23,776
- - 24,223 24,223

There were no transfers between Level 1 and
Level 2 during the years ended 31 December

2022 and 2021.

BE_S_—_FN_T-_—F+=
A=+—HIL&EE F—HHEF—
Wz R e o
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 35. MXEREERAAEBEE
AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (4&)
(Continued)
35.6 Fair value measurements of financial 35.6 ERITAMNAAEBETEE)
instruments (Continued)
The reconciliation of the carrying amounts of the DEARNLBEERE=MOARNE

BT ANKEESRDT

Group's financial instruments classified within

Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy is as follows:

2022 2021
—E-CF T
HK$000 HK$'000
F#& T FE T
Unlisted private equity fund I LETRAREES
Fair value at 1 January R—A—BMAREE 447 464
Fair value loss recognised in RE AL 2 E RS FER
other comprehensive income AR EEEE (56) (17)
Fair value at 31 December Rt+-—A=+—HORAAEE 391 447
Unlisted equity investments FETRAKRE
Fair value at 1 January R—H—BMAREE 23,776 22,638
Fair value gain recognised in REM 2 E R EERI AR
other comprehensive income BERZE 711 1,163
Disposal tE - (25)
Fair value at 31 December R+ZA=+—BH82AR 24,487 23,776

Fair value (loss)/gain on unlisted equity investments
and unlisted private equity fund is recognised in
other comprehensive income and included under
“Fair value reserve (non-recycling)”.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the
Group disposed of the unlisted equity investments,
at a consideration of HK$25,000, which was also
the fair value as at the date of disposal. The gain
on disposal of HK$25,000 has been transferred to
accumulated losses.

There have been no transfers into or out of Level
3 during the years ended 31 December 2022 and
2021.
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 35. iIKEKREERAAEBEE

AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (/&)

(Continued)

35.6 Fair value measurements of financial 356 €RITANAAEBEITEE)
instruments (Continued)
The methods and valuation techniques used for RARETENBEAE-HNARER
the purpose of measuring fair values categorised B 75 0% I A B R 10T B2 38 1 3R 45 HR
in Levels 3 are unchanged compared to the ML EFTE - W TRt o
previous reporting periods and are described
below.
As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the fair value KRB —_Fh_E-_—F+_-H
of the unlisted private equity fund is measured =+—H8  FETAAREESH
using valuation techniques with reference to ARAEBENEAGERNE2ZE
the net assets values. The directors believe that EFEE - EFMRE - HERIT
the change in fair value (which is included in EXNARBEEHGIAEMEE
other comprehensive income) derived from the W) DEEERHE A2 WAKRKE
valuation technique is reasonable and is the most EHEE -
appropriate value at the end of the reporting
period.
As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the fair value N —Fy T —F+_—A1
of an unlisted equity investment has been arrived =+t—H RAEXBEELBERR
at on the basis of a valuation carried out by Avista HEeMEEYE  WIELTRAE
Valuation Advisory Limited, independent qualified BRAABECERBIAERKE
professional valuers, using the adjusted net assets ¥EHEMNEETEZAER AR
method as the major assets are investment ETHMEE - CRCAREEFE
properties to earn rentals. The value of those FER o BEEASEEELNLH
major assets has been adjusted to their fair value BREEFERREAREE %%
at the reporting date using income capitalisation FTEEEEBEEFEARABREE
method for the purpose of determining the FAEEZERAHHAIAEE -

Group’s share of adjusted net assets value and
fair value of the investment.
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35.

36.

145

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
(Continued)

35.6 Fair value measurements of financial

instruments (Continued)

The significant unobservable inputs include lack
of marketability discount of 30% (2021: 30%),
monthly rental rate of RMB42.0/sq.m. (2021:
RMB44.7/sq.m.) and market yield of 5% (2021:
5%). The higher the lack of marketability discount
and market yield would result in lower fair value.
The higher the monthly rental rate would result in
higher fair value.

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Group's capital management objectives are to
ensure the Group's ability to continue as a going concern
and to provide an adequate return for shareholders by
pricing goods and services commensurately with the
level of risks.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages
its capital structure and makes adjustments in light of
changes in economic conditions. In order to adjust the
capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of
dividends paid to shareholders, issue new shares and
raises new debt financing.
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35.
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BBEBEERAABES
(#)

i

35.6 TRMIENAAREBEERE)

BEARERERG ASIEBIERT#E
MBI EI0% (Z B - —F ¢
30%)  BAMESEFEIRARKE
220T(ZF_FF: FFHF KA
R¥447 ) EHisHamESR (=
T=—F :5%)° R EH MR

RAEREmZRaEREs - AREE
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_,%_ o

EXEHE
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REZREN  WEBRE m LR E
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AEBER G TEREERRBETRI R
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